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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

NINE MONTHS ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders, 

In accordance with the applicable regulations, the Board of Directors of SAG Gest – Soluções 
Automóvel Globais, SGPS, S.A. hereby submits the Management Report and the Consolidated 
Financial Statements in respect of the nine months ended 30 September 2015. 

1. OPERACIONAL PERFORMANCE 

a) Automotive Distribution 

The Portuguese Automotive market maintained the 2014 and 1st Half 2015 growth trend and the 
Light Vehicle market recorded a 27.7% increase during the first nine months of 2015, when 
compared with the same period in 2014, with a total volume of 159,551 units. 

In September 2015, the media reported that certain models of the Brands produced by 
Volkswagen AG equipped with EA189 engines had been fitted with software that changes the 
level of emissions of certain pollutants (NOx) only in a test environment. Volkswagen immediately 
accepted the responsibility for this situation. SAG Gest’s SIVA Subsidiary is totally unrelated to 
this situation. Volkswagen AG pledged to implement within the shortest term possible all the 
measures required to resolve this situation, at no cost to its Clients. 

As described below in detail, SIVA's activities, as well as activities of SAG Gest’s Affiliates 
operating in the Automotive Retail sector, were not affected by these reports in September 2015. 
Currently, there is no information available to assess the impact that this situation may cause in 
the future. However, any impact is not expected to be materially different from what might occur 
in other European countries. 

Overall, SIVA advanced in line with the market, and maintained its leadership in the ranking of the 
Importers operating in Portugal, with a 15.4% market share and a volume of approximately 24,500 
units in the total Light Vehicles (LV) market, and a 16.6% share, with a volume of 22,963 units in 
the Passenger Cars (PC) market: 

• Volkswagen – Passenger Cars, with a volume of 13,304 units, recorded a 29.1% growth, 
and maintained the 9.6% market share already recorded in the same period in 2014. 

• The Audi Brand recorded an 18.5% volume growth when compared with the same period in 
2014, with a volume of 7,194 units (6,069 units in the first nine months in 2014). 

• Skoda’s volume increased 36.6%, to 2,456 units (1,798 in the same period in 2014) 
corresponding to a 1.8% market share (1.7% in the same period in 2014).  

• Volkswagen –Commercial Vehicles recorded a 7.2% volume growth, with 1,543 vehicles 
(1,527 units in the same period in 2014). In the van and pick-up segment, the Brand 
recorded a 16.6% growth and a 7.9% market share (8.7% in the same period in 2014). 
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b) Automotive Retail 

The SAG Gest Dealer Subsidiaries (Soauto, Loures Automóveis, Rolporto and Rolvia) sold, during 
the first nine months in 2015, 3,192 new units of the Volkswagen, Audi, Skoda and Volkswagen – 
Commercial Vehicles Brands, recording a 21.0% increase when compared with the 2,637 units 
sold during the same period in 2014. In the Used Car segment, the SAG Gest Dealers recorded a 
volume of 1,478 units, a 23.0% increase when compared with the 1,202 units sold during the first 
nine months of 2014. 

c) Brazil 

The macroeconomic situation prevailing in Brazil throughout the first nine months of 2015 caused 
a slowdown in the business activity of the Unidas S/A Affiliate, which nevertheless increased 
16.2% when compared with the same period in 2014. 

• Volume in the Rent-a-Car segment was 2.9 million rental days, a 17.0% increase when 
compared with the volume during the first nine months of 2014 (2.5 million rental days). Net 
turnover for this segment increased 12.7% when compared with the same period in the 
previous year. 

• In the highly competitive Renting segment, net turnover in the first nine months of 2015 
increased 0.8% when compared to the same period in the previous year. 

• Activities in the Semi-New segment recorded a 28.8% volume increase leading to a 28.0% 
net turnover growth. 

• The Unidas S/A Affiliate’s total fleet as at the end of the 3rd Quarter 2015 was 41,959 cars, 
4.1% more than the 40,296 units in the fleet as at 30 September 2014. The average 
operational fleet of the Affiliate recorded a 9.0% increase when compared with the same 
period last year. 

The Unidas S/A Affiliate’s EBITDA increased 6.8% when compared with the total for the first three 
Quarters of 2014. 

The Affiliate’s net result for the first nine months in 2015 was R$ 42.8 million (Eur 7.8 million). In 
Brazilian Reals, the net result decreased when compared with the same period in the previous 
year, particularly due to the impact of the significant increase in financial expenses associated with 
the interest rate increase experienced in Brazil during 2015. 

The amount, in Euros, of the Affiliate’s net results was also affected by the strong devaluation of 
the Brazilian Real recorded in 2015. 

2. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 

 As had already been the case at the end of the 1st Half 2015, the Unidas S/A Affiliate was again 
included in SAG Gest’s Consolidated Financial Statements through the Equity Method. SAG Gest 
has recognized the appropriation of its share in the net results of the Unidas S/A Affiliate since 1 
July 2013, and consequently SAG Gest’s Consolidated Financial Statements were re-stated from 
said date onwards. 

The amounts indicated herein, as well as the attached Consolidated Financial Statements already 
reflect the adjustments resulting from this change, in both 2015 and 2014. 
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Consolidated Turnover for the first three Quarters in 2015 was Eur 464.7 million, representing a 
30.7% increase when compared with the Eur 355.7 million recorded in the same period in 2014. 
In the 3rd Quarter 2015, Consolidated Turnover increased 30.3% (Eur 155.0 million in 2015, Eur 
119.0 million in 2014). 

Consolidated EBITDA for the first nine months in 2015 (Eur 14.4 million) recorded an 11.7% 
increase when compared to the Eur 12.9 million recorded during the first nine months in 2014, in 
spite of the 21.5% increase in commercial support investment, and the non-recurrent restructuring 
costs incurred during the period in the Automotive Retail area. 

Consolidated Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (EBIT) was Eur 12.6 million, recording a 15.0% 
increase when compared with the Eur 10.9 million for the nine months ended 30 September 2014. 

Due to the change in the consolidation method used in respect of the Unidas S/A Affiliate, SAG 
Gest’s share in the net result of that Entity was appropriated, resulting in the recognition of a Eur 
2.7 million profit during the first three Quarters in 2015, and a Eur 3.3 million profit in the same 
period in 2014. The 16.2% decrease was mostly due to the devaluation of the Brazilian Real 
against the Euro during the period, which on average was approximately 17%. 

Consolidated Net Financial Expenses increased by approximately Eur 2.8 million, reflecting the 
costs associated with additional bank guarantees required to support the increased activity 
volumes (with an additional cost of approximately Eur 1.1 million) and the additional working 
capital requirements. 

Net Results attributable to SAG Gest during the first nine months 2015 were still a Eur 5.5 million 
loss. 

Consolidated Net Debt as at 30 September 2015 was Eur 293.9 million, an increase of 
approximately Eur 8.3 million when compared to Eur 285.5 million at the end of 2014. This change 
is essentially the result of increased working capital requirements following the increased business 
volume, particularly in Inventories, which increased by approximately Eur 52.6 million. Had the 
capitalization measures, described below, been adopted effective 30 September 2015, 
Consolidated Net Debt would have been approximately Eur 112.5 million.  

On 30 September 2015, Consolidated Net Equity was a negative Eur 68.4 million. Had the 
capitalization measures, described below, been implemented effective 30 September 2015, the 
Consolidated Net Equity would have been Eur 31.3 million positive.  

3. CAPITALIZATION 

SAG Gest and its majority Shareholder have reached an understanding with SAG Gest’s main 
creditor Banks in respect of several operations, still subject to the completion during the 4th Quarter 
of 2015 of the various contracts. The objective of such operations is to ensure the sustainability of 
SAG Gest’s core activities in the Automotive Retail area in Portugal, as well as the reconstruction 
of the Consolidated Net Equity. 

The main measures that will be implemented include the reduction, by approximately Eur 181 
million, of debt owed to the Banks that have signed the Framework Agreement (originally dated 
2010) following the application of the proceeds resulting from: 

i. A Eur 81.4 million increase of SAG Gest’s shareholders equity by means of the performance 
by the Principal SA Shareholder of additional Supplementary Capital. Said Shareholder will 
then hold Supplementary Capital Payments in SAG Gest for a total of Eur 135.2 million, and 
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SAG Gest will again show a balance sheet structure adequate to support the development of 
its businesses. 

ii. The sale to the Principal SA Shareholder, for the amount of Eur 100.0 million, of SAG Gest’s  
investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate. The Audit Committee has already issued a favorable 
opinion in respect of this transaction, based upon an independent valuation of the Affiliate 
and additional information provided by the Board of Directors.  

After completion of the required contracts and the implementation of said transactions, SAG Gest’s 
Shareholders Equity and debt will therefore return to levels that is compatible with profitability of 
its activities. 

SAG Gest will today request the Shareholders Extraordinary Meeting to convene on 21 December 
2015, and the corresponding Notice and related documentation will be released at the Company’s 
website (www.sag.pt) and in the Information System of the Portuguese Securities and Exchange 
Commission (CMVM). 

4. RISK MANAGEMENT 

SAG Gest’s Risk Management Policy aims to ensure an accurate identification of risks involved 
in the businesses conducted by its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, as well as to adopt and implement 
the measures required to minimize the negative impacts that adverse developments of factors 
inherent to those risks may cause on the Group’s financial structure and sustainability. 

The identification of risks in Companies that are materially relevant to the SAG Group has 
enabled the identification of the main risks to which the Group is exposed:  

Strategic Risk 

The strategic plan adopted in 2008, included the now completed sale of several non-strategic 
assets, and aimed (and still aims) fundamentally at achieving SAG Group’s profitability and 
sustainability. The plan provided for the adoption of measures to ensure the optimization of the 
value of the holding in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, in such a way that its sale would enable a 
reduction of the Group’s debt. This transaction shall also enable the consistent and sustainable 
reestablishment of the SAG Group’s historical profitability levels, as well as the implementation 
of a reimbursement plan of the Treasury Operations with the SGC – SGPS Shareholder. 

Implementation of the final steps of this plan is exposed to the following main risks: 

1. The return of the Portuguese automotive market to levels enabling the Group’s activities in 
the Automotive Distribution and Retail areas to increase their profitability, in line with its 
historical trend. The growth trends of the automotive market during the first nine months 
2015 and the positive prospects for the remaining of the year seem to point in that direction. 
In fact, in 2015 the market is expected to still be far from its consensus level, and the return 
to more material results from its import and retail activities, which are indispensable to 
ensure SAG’s overall profitability, depends upon the market’s performance. 

2. Completion of the sale of SAG Gest’s holding in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, for an adequate 
amount. The progression of the Brazilian economy and the performance of its currency and 
capital markets in 2015 are the main risk factors for the successful completion of this 
transaction.  
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3. Completion of the negotiations with SAG Gest’s majority Shareholder and the Banks that 
are parties to the Framework Agreement, with the objective of strengthening SAG Gest’s 
Equity, of reducing debt and of rescheduling its maturities, so as to enable a structurally 
profitable income statement and a balanced Financial Position. 

The completion of the capitalization process mentioned in 3. above, will ensure that the strategic 
risks will be overcome. 

 Reliance on Suppliers 

The business of the SIVA Subsidiary is based on Distribution Agreements established with the 
Volkswagen Group for an undetermined period, subject to the relevant EU Regulations, which 
have been fully complied with and successively maintained in force for more than 25 years. 
However, maintenance of these Agreements depends on factors that include the continuation of 
Volkswagen Group’s distribution policies, as well as the performance of the represented Brands 
in the Portuguese market.  

In this context, the risk associated with the products sold in Portugal has been recently identified, 
as well as such products’ compliance with the applicable regulations. The Entities held by SAG 
Gest that operate in the importation, distribution, and retail areas (the SIVA and SAG Gest’s 
Subsidiaries in the Automotive Retail area) have no influence in said products’ quality and 
compliance with the applicable regulations. 

Financial Risks 

The main financial risks identified are the liquidity risks, the exchange rate risks, the interest rate 
exposure risks and the credit risk. 

The management of the liquidity risk involves the dynamic monitoring and measuring of this type 
of risk in order to ensure the fulfillment of all short and medium-term financial responsibilities 
(cash outflows) by SAG Group Companies towards entities doing business with them. 

The Portuguese economic situation, particularly in what relates to credit availability, has 
determined a substantial increase of the liquidity risks. In this context, the Group has responded 
with a close monitoring and management of its cash flows and with a permanent communication 
with the major Portuguese Financial Institutions. 

Exchange rate risk management controls the impact that exchange rate changes may have on 
the Group’s equity and attempts to ensure accurate measurement and dynamic management of 
global exchange risk. The control policy that has been adopted aims at selecting suitable 
strategies for each business area in order to ensure that this risk factor does not negatively affect 
the relevant operational capacity. However, in view of the potential impacts that exchange rate 
coverage financial instruments could generate, affecting the Group’s liquidity position, it was 
resolved that no hedging instruments should be acquired for this purpose. 

Interest rate risk management aims to ensure the assessment and dynamic management of this 
risk through the definition and setting of exposure limits of the Group’s Statement of the Financial 
Position and of the Statement of Comprehensive Income to interest rate variations. The control 
policy that has been adopted aims at selecting suitable strategies for each business area in order 
to ensure that this risk factor does not negatively affect the relevant operational capacity. On the 
other hand, exposure to interest rate risk is further monitored through simulation of adverse 
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scenarios having some degree of probability and which could negatively affect the Group's 
results. 

In what relates to credit risk management, the development of the Group's Customer portfolio 
and each business unit's exposure are monitored on a monthly basis. The Group adopted in 
2001 a Credit Risk Manual establishing policies, criteria and procedures to be adopted in the 
credit control area. The Credit Risk Manual is regularly updated and includes criteria to be used 
in determining a credit rating. 

Operational Risk 

Operational risk management is based on the assignment of functional responsibilities and formal 
definition of internal control procedures, on a business area level. 

5. OUTLOOK FOR THE REMAINING OF 2015 

It is expected that the Portuguese Automotive market recovery signs that have already been 
apparent since the 2nd Half of 2013, and that were also displayed during the first nine months in 
2015, will be maintained during the remainder of the year. This growth, if materialized, will 
strengthen the profitability of operational activities, should the market share held by the Brands 
sold by the SIVA Subsidiary and by Subsidiaries operating in the Automotive Retail area not be 
negatively affected by the situations involving Volkswagen Group.  

The implementation of the capitalization process will rebalance consolidated equity and will result 
in a significant decrease in financial expenses incurred by SAG Gest, therefore allowing the Group 
to increase its profitability, particularly from 2016 onwards.  

6. TREASURY STOCK INFORMATION 

On 31 December 2014, SAG Gest directly owned 16,760,815 treasury stock, with the nominal 
value of Eur 1 each, and also indirectly controlled a further 5,100 shares held by the Rolporto 
Subsidiary, as well as 5,100 shares held by the Loures Automóveis Subsidiary, all with a nominal 
value of Eur 1 each. 

During the nine months ended 30 September 2015, SAG Gest did not purchase or sell any 
treasury stock. Therefore, on 30 September 2015, the Company directly owned 16,760,815 
treasury stock, with the nominal value of Eur 1 each, and also controlled indirectly a further 5,100 
shares held by Affiliate Rolporto, as well as 5,100 shares held by the Loures Automóveis Affiliate, 
all with a nominal value of Eur 1 each. 

The portfolio of treasury stock held directly and indirectly represented 9.879% of the total shares 
representing the Company’s share capital on 30 September 2015, with an average unit purchase 
price of Eur 1.9760. 

7. COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

In compliance with the legal and statutory provisions, the Board of Directors believes that, to the 
best of its knowledge, the information contained in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 
30 September 2015, and for the nine months then ended, was prepared in compliance with the 
applicable accounting standards, and provides an accurate and adequate image of the assets 
and liabilities, financial situation and results of SAG Gest and of the Companies included in the 
consolidation perimeter, and that the Management Report accurately reflects the development 
of business, performance and position of SAG Gest and of the Companies included in the 
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consolidation perimeter and contains a description of the main risks and uncertainties that 
confront them. 

Alfragide, 27 November 2015 

 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
João Manuel de Quevedo Pereira Coutinho 

Carlos Alexandre Antão Valente Coutinho 

Esmeralda da Silva Santos Dourado 

Fernando Jorge Cardoso Monteiro 

José Maria Cabral Vozone 

Luís Miguel Dias da Silva Santos 

Pedro Roque de Pinho de Almeida  

Rui Eduardo Ferreira Rodrigues Pena 
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NOTES TO THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

30 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF THE GROUP’S ACTIVITY 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of SAG Gest - Soluções Automóvel Globais SGPS, SA (hereafter SAG 
Gest) for the nine months ended 30 September 2015 have been approved and authorized for release by the 
Board of Directors on 27 November 2015. 

The Financial Statements are consolidated in Portugal.  

The SAG Group, where SAG Gest is the parent company, includes Entitnies operating in different business 
areas in Portugal, which include: 

• distribution and retail operations of new cars of the Volkswagen, Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Audi, 
Škoda, Bentley and Lamborghini Brands 

• distribution and sale of automotive parts and accessories, 

• provision of after sales services (repairs and maintenance) of cars 

• sales of multi-brand used cars 

• preparation of new vehicles and body repairs  

The corporate object of SAG Gest, with Head-Office at Estrada de Alfragide, 67 – Alfragide, Amadora, Portugal, 
is the management of shareholdings. 

2. SUMMARY OF THE MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
2.1 Bases for preparation 
The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared on the basis of the historical cost, at the revalued amount 
for Land and Buildings, and at the fair value for Investment Properties and Derivative Financial Instruments. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the Separate Financial Statements of the Entities included 
in SAG Gest’s current consolidation perimeter (as described in Note 3), relate to the nine months ended 30 
September 2015, and were prepared using accounting policies that are consistent among them. 

All amounts shown in the Notes herein are expressed in thousands of Euros (Eur 000), unless otherwise stated. 

2.2 Compliance statement 
The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, in force on 30 September 2015. 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies 
2.3.1 New Standards and Interpretations applicable to the financial year started on 1 January 2015 
Effective 1 January 2015, the European Union (EU) endorsed the following issues, revisions, amendments and 
improvements to Standards and Interpretations: 
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SAG Gest has confirmed that said issues, revisions, changes and improvements to the above Standards and 
Interpretations have not caused material impacts to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

2.3.2 New Standards and Interpretations applicable to financial years starting after 1 January 2015 
Effective after 1 January 2015, the European Union (EU) endorsed the issues, revisions, amendments and 
improvements to the Standards and Interpretations indicated below. 

 
SAG Gest has confirmed that said issues, revisions, changes and improvements to the above Standards and 
Interpretations have not caused material impacts to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

2.3.3 New Standards and Interpretations already issued, but not yet mandatory 
The new Standards and Interpretations recently issued by IASB whose adoption is not yet mandatory in the 
European Union (EU) are disclosed in the following table. 

 
SAG Gest does not expect that the above issuances, revisions, changes and improvements to Standards and 
Interpretations will cause a material impact to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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2.4 Bases for Consolidation 
Consolidation using the Full Consolidation Method 

a) The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Financial Statements of SAG Gest and of the 
Subsidiaries in whose Share Capital SAG Gest holds a direct or indirect majority stake, or controls 
management. Control corresponds to the capacity to manage the Entity’s financial and operational policies, 
in order to obtain benefits from its activities. 

b) Entities controlled by SAG Gest are considered as Group Entities. Control exists when SAG Gest has either 
direct or indirect power to conduct financial and operational policies of an Entity. Potential exercisable voting 
rights are taken into account when determining whether control exists. Control is deemed to exist when the 
stake held is more than 50%. 

The Financial Statements of such Entities were consolidated using the Full Consolidation Method. 

c) Subsidiaries are consolidated using the Full Consolidation Method from the date when SAG Gest obtains 
control until the date when control is lost. Financial Statements of these Subsidiaries are prepared with 
reference to the same accounting period of the Parent Company’s Financial Statements, applying 
accounting principles that are consistent between them. 

d) Changes in the percentage of interest in those Subsidiaries, where no loss of control occurs, are recognized 
as equity transactions, in accordance with IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Consolidation using the Equity Method 

e) Affiliates where SAG Gest has a significant influence (the Unidas S/A and Autolombos Affiliates) were 
consolidated using the equity method.  

Non-Controlling Interests 

f) The amounts representing participations held by unrelated third parties are included in the Consolidated 
Statement of the Financial Position and in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income as “Non-Controlling Interests”. 

g) Losses are attributed to Non-Controlling Interests, even where such results in a negative amount for Non-
Controlling Interests. 

Non-Controlling Interests represent the interests held by unrelated third parties in the Rolporto, Rolvia and 
Loures Automóveis Subsidiaries. 

h) Non-Controlling Interests are measured in the proportion of the identifiable net assets attributable to 
unrelated third parties. Acquisition related expenses are recognized as costs. 

Effects of changes in control 

i) Where, as a consequence of a transaction, SAG Gest loses control of a Subsidiary, the following procedures 
are adopted: 

• All assets (including Goodwill) and liabilities relating to the Subsidiary are de-recognized 

• The amount of any Non-Controlling Interests is de-recognized 

• Any Cumulative Translation Adjustments included in Equity and relating to such Subsidiary are 
reclassified and included in the results for the year 

• The fair value of the consideration received, if any, is recognized 

• The fair value of any interests retained is recognized 

• Any remaining outstanding balances are recognized in the result for the year in which the transaction is 
completed 
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• Any other items related to the Subsidiary that have affected Comprehensive Income are recognized 
against income for the year 

Consolidation process 

j) Inter-company balances and transactions (with their corresponding income and expenses) between the 
Entities included in the consolidation perimeter were eliminated in the consolidation process. 

k) Dividends paid between Group Companies and jointly controlled Entities are eliminated in the consolidation 
process, in the proportion of the share of control attributable to SAG Gest. 

Business Combinations and Goodwill 

l) SAG Gest adopted IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, effective 1 January 2004, and therefore, as from that 
date, Goodwill is amortization no longer recognized. The amounts recognized as Goodwill became subject 
to impairment tests on an annual basis and whenever necessary.  

Management considers that the amount of Goodwill shown in the Consolidated Statement of the Financial 
Position is close to its fair value, as disclosed in Note 20. 

m) From 1 January 2009 onwards, SAG Gest applied the revised IFRS 3 – Business Combinations. Business. 
Acquisitions are recognized using the purchase method, with cost being measured as the sum of (i) the fair 
value of the acquired assets as at acquisition date, (ii) the consideration paid and (iii) the value of any Non-
Controlling Interests in the acquired Entity. 

n) When acquisitions of businesses are performed in stages, the fair value on the date of each purchase of 
previously acquired interests is re-measured at the fair value on the date of each subsequent purchase, and 
the corresponding gains or losses are recognized in the results for the year. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at its fair value on acquisition date. Any subsequent changes to 
this fair value that is considered as an asset or a liability will be recognized according to IAS 39 – Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. If that contingency is considered as Equity, it shall not be re-measured until it is 
established as an Equity component. 

o) Differences between the book value of Financial Investments and the acquisition values of the Entities 
included in consolidation are reported as follows: 

• Where the acquisition price is higher than the acquired Entity’s equity value, such difference is 
recognized as Goodwill, under Intangible Assets 

• Where the acquisition price is lower than the acquired Entity’s equity value, such differences affect the 
Net Result in the financial year in which the acquisition occurs 

First consolidation adjustments 

p) Differences determined on the date of the first consolidation (in 1998), regardless of their (positive or 
negative) nature, were recognized directly against Consolidated Equity, under First Consolidation 
Adjustments, and are as follows: 
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2.5 Main Accounting Policies 
2.5.1 Revenue Recognition (Notes 4 and 36) 
Revenue is recognized as such to the extent that the Entity is likely to derive future economic benefits and that 
the amount of such Revenue can be measured reliably. 

In order for Revenue to be recognized, the following criteria must be fulfilled: 

a) Sales of goods 
Revenue is recognized when the significant economic risks and benefits resulting from the ownership of the 
asset have been passed to the Buyer, and such Revenue can be measured reliably.  

i. Deferred Income – Billed Not Shipped 
In the case of cars, revenue recognition usually coincides with car ownership transfer, which occurs, in 
most cases, simultaneously with the issuing of the corresponding sales invoice. However, where the 
delivery of the car to the Customer only takes place after issuance of the corresponding invoice, a sale is 
recognized as revenue only when the car is delivered to the Customer. The amount of invoices meeting 
the criteria is recognized, between date of issuance of the invoice and delivery date, as Deferred Income, 
as disclosed in Note 36. 

ii. Transactions in Buy-Back Scheme 

In transactions where, simultaneously with the issuing of the sales invoice, the Selling Entity, or any other 
Entity included in the consolidation perimeter, undertake a repurchase commitment for the same vehicle 
(transactions with buy-back clauses), the principles set forth in IAS 18 – Revenue are applied. Therefore, 
the amounts invoiced in respect of such transactions are not recognized as Revenue. Other expenses or 
income relating to transactions of this nature, are recognized on a straight-line basis over the period during 
which such commitments are in force, which generally corresponds to the period of time between the 
invoice date and the date when the vehicle is repurchased (the “holding period”). 

b) Services 
Revenue from Services is recognized during the period in which the services are actually provided, 
regardless of whether an invoice was issued. 

c)  Interest 
Interest Income is accrued so that it is recognized during the corresponding period, regardless of whether 
the corresponding supporting document was issued. 

d) Dividends 
Dividend income is recognized when, in substance, the reporting Entity has an obligation to declare a 
Dividend. 

2.5.2 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale (Note 16) 
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale are recognized as such where their carrying amount is expected to be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use. For this to be the case: 

a) The Asset must be available for immediate sale in its current condition, subject only to terms that are usual 
and customary for the sale of this type of assets, i.e., SAG Gest has the intention and ability to transfer the 
asset to a buyer, in its current condition. 

The sale must be highly probable, and for that purpose, management must be committed to a sale plan and 
shall have initiated its implementation. The actions required to complete the plan should indicate that it is 
unlikely that significant changes will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. In addition, the sales price 
shall be appropriated when compared to the asset’s current fair value. 
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b) A sale transaction shall be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from date 
of recognition of the asset as a Non-Current Asset Held for Sale. This period may be extended should any 
events or circumstances occur that are beyond SAG Gest's control, and if the intention to sell the asset is 
maintained. 

c) The sale shall be genuine, i.e., the asset shall not be abandoned. 

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale shall be measured at the lower of: 

a) its carrying amount; and 

b) its fair value, less costs to sell. 

Before recognition as Non-Current Assets Held for Sale, an asset's carrying amount shall be determined in 
accordance with the applicable IFRS. Where the asset to be transferred corresponds to an investment in an 
Associate or Affiliate, its carrying amount shall represent the amount resulting from applying the Equity Method 
on transfer date. 

Should such asset be devalued, the corresponding impairment loss shall be established and recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, under “Impairment of Assets”. 

Should there be a subsequent valuation of the asset, a gain must be recognized in the period under “Impairment 
of Assets”. However, such gain shall not exceed the cumulative impairment loss that has already been 
recognized. 

Recognized impairment losses or any subsequent gains shall decrease or increase the carrying amount of Non-
Current Asset Held for Sale. 

Any loss or gain that was not previously recognized as at the date of sale a Non-Current Asset Held for Sale 
shall be recognized on the date of de-recognition. 

IFRS 5 determines that where the criteria defined for an asset to continue to be recognized as a Non-Current 
Asset Held for Sale are not fulfilled, the Entity should cease to recognize that asset as a Non-Current Asset Held 
for Sale and should recognize it for the lowest amount of:  

i. the asset’s recoverable amount as at the date where it is established that the said criteria were not 
fulfilled and  

ii. the book value that the asset would have, had that change not occurred. 

In these situations, in accordance with IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, 
and IAS 28 - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, investment in an Associate or Joint Venture which 
ceases to be considered as a Non-Current Asset Held for Sale shall be recognized using the retrospective 
application of the Equity Method, effective on the date when the said investment became recognized as a Non-
Current Asset Held for Sale. Previous periods Consolidated Financial Statements shall be retrospectively 
adjusted, in order to reflect the adoption of the Equity Method. 

2.5.3 Income Tax (Note 17) 
a) Changes to tax regulations 

Law 2/2014 dated 16 January 2014, amended, among others, Article 69 of the Portuguese Corporate Income 
Tax Code (“CIRC”), which defines the scope and conditions for the application of the Special Regime of 
Taxation of Groups of Companies (“RETGS”). These changes became effective 1 January 2014. 

Paragraph 2 of said article 69 now establishes that for an Entity to be considered as a controlled Entity, for 
the purposes of adopting the “RETGS” regime, the percentage held directly or indirectly by a Shareholding 
Entity in that Entity is 75% (previously 90%), provided that such holding represents at least 50% of the voting 
rights. Should this be the case, the Entity will become included in the “RETGS” perimeter headed by its 
Shareholding Entity. 
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As a consequence of this amendment, and since the other requirements of Article 69 of the “CIRC” were 
met, SAG Gest now has, as of 1 January 2014, a new controlling Entity for tax purposes (SGC – SGPS, its 
majority Shareholder) and, consequently, is now included in the “RETGS” perimeter of SGC – SGPS. 

In addition, and also as a result of the above changes, the other Entities previously included in the SAG Gest 
“RETGS”, which are directly or indirectly held by the SGC – SGPS Shareholder in more than 75%, have 
become included in the “RETGS” perimeter of SGC – SGPS, with effect from 1 January 2014.  

The controlling Entity communicated to the Tax Authorities its option to maintain the “RETGS” tax regime on 
25 March 2014. The Portuguese Tax Authorities confirmed this change on 2 March 2015.  

SGC – SGPS requested, on 25 March 2014, as set forth in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Article 71 of the “CIRC”, 
the maintenance of the SAG Group’s tax losses carried forward from previous years under the “RETGS” 
headed by SAG Gest, as well as the allocation of individual tax losses of Entities that were part of the previous 
“RETGS” led by the SGC – SGPS Shareholder. This request is still pending approval by the Portuguese Tax 
Authorities. 

b) Income Tax return revisions 
In accordance with current regulations, Portuguese tax returns are subject to review and correction by the 
Tax Authorities during the subsequent four years (five to ten years for Social Security, depending on the 
application of the transitional regime). Therefore, the Tax Authorities may still review the tax returns of the 
Entities included in the consolidation in respect to the years 2011 to 2014, although SAG Gest considers that 
any corrections resulting from tax reviews to such tax returns will not have any material impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as at 30 September 2015.  

When tax losses have occurred, and in the event of reviews, claims or challenges , the deadline is extended 
or suspended, depending on circumstances. 

Tax returns of Entities included in the consolidation, in respect of which the Tax Authorities issued additional 
Assessment Notes that have been judicially challenged, as disclosed in Note 41, may still be subject to review 
by the Tax Authorities. 

c) Calculation of current income tax 
Portuguese Current Income Tax is the result of the addition of individual income tax amounts due by each of 
the Entities included in consolidation, as per the relevant annual income tax returns. 

The income tax rates applied in Portugal in respect of the 2015 financial year are as follows: 

i. Basic Income Tax rate (“IRC”): 21% on taxable income; 

ii. Local Income Tax Surtax (“Derrama Municipal”): 1.5% on the positive taxable income, on an 
individual Entity basis, for each of the Entities included in the consolidation that do business in 
Portugal. 

iii. State Income Tax Surtax (“Derrama Estadual”): applied to the positive taxable income, on an 
individual Entity basis, for each of the Entities included in the consolidation operating in Portugal. 
The following rates apply: 

a. 3% on positive taxable income between Eur 1.500,0 thousand and Eur  7.500,0 thousand; 

b. 5% on positive taxable income between Eur 7.500,0 thousand and Eur  35.000,0 thousand; 

c. 7% on positive taxable income over Eur 35.000,0 thousand. 
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d) Deferred income taxes 
SAG Gest recognizes deferred income taxes, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in IAS 
12 – Income Taxes, in order to suitably match the tax effects of its operations, and to exclude distortions 
associated with tax criteria that would affect the economic results of certain transactions. 

Deferred Tax represents the income tax amount of temporary differences between the book value of reported 
Assets and Liabilities and the corresponding tax basis. 

Deferred Tax Assets in respect of deductible tax losses carried forward are recognized whenever there is 
reasonable certainty that future profits will be generated against which the tax assets may be used. Deferred 
Tax Assets are annually revised and reduced whenever it is no longer likely that they will be used. 

The amount of Deferred Taxes is determined using tax rates (and laws) in force or substantially in force on 
reporting date and expected to be applied upon recovery of the Deferred Tax Asset or payment of the 
Deferred Tax Liability. According to current regulations in Portugal, the 21% basic statutory corporate income 
tax rate was considered and, in situations not related to tax losses, a 1.5 % local income tax surtax (“Derrama 
Municipal”) was added when calculating Deferred Tax Assets or Liabilities resulting from for temporary 
differences between the tax and book basis of assets and liabilities. 

Changes recorded during the period, the reconciliation between Provision for Income Taxes for the period and 
Current Income Tax, as well as the breakdown of Deferred Taxes are disclosed in Note 17. 

2.5.4 Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 19) 
Property, Plant and Equipment, with the exception of Buildings, are recognized at cost, which includes all costs 
associated with their respective acquisition. Buildings are recognized at their revalued amount. 

Depreciation is calculated based on cost or re-valued amounts, using the straight-line method, except in the 
case mentioned below, in order to fully depreciate the assets until the end of their estimated useful life. 
Depreciation rates are disclosed in the table below. 

 % 

Buildings and Other Constructions 2,00 to 16,66 

Basic Equipment 10,00 to 31,25 
Autos and Trucks 14,28 to 25,00 
Tools 10,00 to 25,00 
Office Equipment 10,00 to 33,33 
Other Fixed Assets 10,00 to 33,33 

 

At the Globalrent Subsidiary, depreciation of vehicles recognized as Basic Equipment assigned to the Rent-a-
Car operations (short-term car rental without a driver), is calculated so as to reflect the estimated loss in the 
value of the car during the time of its planned usage, using the straight-line method. 

Expenses incurred in connection with the repair and maintenance of equipment are recognized as expenses in 
the period in which they are incurred. 

2.5.5 Intangible Assets (Notes 20 and 21) 
a) Goodwill 

Positive consolidation adjustments (Goodwill) represent the excess of the acquisition cost over identifiable 
Equity as at acquisition date, as at the date of the change in control requiring a change in the consolidation 
method, or as at the date of first consolidation. Goodwill is allocated to Cash-Generating Units for the 
performance of impairment tests. Goodwill is not amortized, and its value is reduced by any impairment 
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losses. Impairment losses are determined annually on reporting date, or whenever there are signs of a loss 
in value. Any loss in value (impairment) is recognized against the result for the period, and cannot be 
subsequently reversed. 

Gains or losses arising from the sale of an Entity / Cash-Generating Unit are calculated including the 
corresponding Goodwill amounts. 

As set forth in Appendix B of IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
SAG Gest chose to neither (a) retroactively perform the calculations required to determine the value of 
Goodwill in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, nor (b) to apply retroactively IAS 21 – Effects 
of Changes in Exchange Rates, in respect of acquisitions completed on or before 1 January 2004. 

b) Store Key-money 
Key-money expenses are recognized during the term of the applicable rental agreements. The amount 
related to Store Key-money was allocated to Cash-Generating Units for the performance of impairment 
tests. 

c) Other Intangible Assets 
Other Intangible Assets are measured at cost. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, using 
depreciation rates that allow full depreciation of such assets until the end of their useful life. Software is 
depreciated using a 33% depreciation rate. 

2.5.6. Investments in Affiliates (Note 22) 
SAG Gest’s investments in Affiliates are recognized using the Equity Method. In accordance with this method, 
investments are recognized at their acquisition cost, adjusted by the percentage held by SAG Gest in eventual 
subsequent changes affecting the equity of those Entities. Where signs of impairment are identified, such 
Financial Investments are subject to impairment tests. 

The results of the period reflect the appropriation by SAG Gest of results of the Affiliates’ operations, in the 
proportion of the interest held. 

Dividends recognized during the year reduce the carrying amount of Investments in Affiliates. 

When SAG Gest loses significant influence, the retained Investment in the Affiliate is recognized at its fair value 
(with impact on the year’s results). 

2.5.7 Investment Properties (Note 23) 
Investment Properties represent land and buildings held for income and/or capital valuation, or both, that are 
not used in current business operations (rendering of services or sales). 

Investment Properties are recognized at their fair value, reflecting market conditions on reporting date. Changes 
in valuations are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
under “Fair Value Adjustments” in the relevant year. 

Expenses incurred (maintenance, repairs, insurance and property tax), as well as any income and rentals 
received from Investment Properties, are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income in the relevant year. 
2.5.8 Inventories (Note 24) 
Inventories are measured at the lowest of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value represents the 
expected sales price less costs to sell.  

Cost is determined as follows: 

• New Cars – acquisition cost plus any other additional purchase expenses; 

• Used Cars – where vehicles recognized in Inventory result from trade-in transactions, they are valued at 
the purchase cost as determined at the trade-in valuation; 
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• Vehicles under buy-back programs – the recognized cost corresponds to the re-purchase price agreed for 
the Buy-Back date, after deduction of any impairment losses; 

• Spare parts and other saleable goods – average purchase cost plus any other expenses incurred prior to 
the respective entry into Inventories. 

• The amount of Adjustments for Spare Parts Inventory is determined on the basis of stock turnover, by type 
of material, calculated based upon inventory transactions recorded during the previous 24 months. This 
criterion is applied consistently.  

2.5.9 Determining fair value 
Certain policies and disclosures adopted by SAG Gest require the determination of the fair value of financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

To determine the fair value of an asset or a liability, SAG Gest uses observable market data, whenever available. 
Fair value is classified by hierarchy level, on the basis of the inputs used in evaluation techniques, namely: 

• Level 1: listed, non-adjusted prices used in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

• Level 2: Directly or indirectly observable inputs for assets and liabilities; 

• Level 3: Inputs based on non-observable data 

2.5.10 Financial Assets (other than Financial Investments) 
Depending on the intention of the Board of Directors upon acquisition, Financial Assets may be classified as 
follows: 

a) Loans and Receivables 

b) Investments Held-to-Maturity 

c) Investments Held for Trading measured at fair value through profit and loss  
d) Financial Assets Available for Sale 

Policies and procedures applied in each category are as follows: 

a) Loans and Receivables (Notes 25, 26 and 27) 
Loans and Receivables include non-derivative Financial Assets with fixed or determinable payments. 
Outstanding balances due by Customers and Other Debtors are recognized at their nominal value, after 
deduction of any impairment losses, so that the amounts included in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
represent their net realizable value. Impairment losses are recognized when signs affecting the 
recoverability of the receivable are identified. The write-off of receivables is only recognized when the 
applicable legal requirements are met, namely the issuance of an “Un-recoverability Certificate” or of an 
“Insolvency Certificate”, together with the required certification issued by a Chartered Accountant. 

b) Investments Held-to-Maturity 
Investments Held-to-Maturity are recognized as Non-Current Investments, unless their maturity occurs less 
than 12 months from reporting date. Investments with a set maturity, which SAG Gest has the intention and 
ability to hold until such date are recognized under this item. Investments Held-to-Maturity are recognized 
at their amortized cost, less impairment losses, if any. 

During the nine months ended on 30 September 2015, no situation occurred where the above mentioned 
policy should apply. 

c) Investments Held for Trading measured at fair value through profit and loss 
This category, which is reported as Current Assets, includes non-derivative Financial Assets held for trading, 
and derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting purposes. 
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A Financial Asset is recognized as held for trading where:  

• It was acquired or incurred with the objective of being sold or repurchased within a very short term; 

• It is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are jointly managed and for which there is 
evidence of an actual recent model of a short-term profit-taking transaction; 

• It is a derivative (except where a derivative is a designated and effective coverage instrument). 

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of Investments Held for Trading measured at fair 
value through profit and loss are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income, in the period during which those changes occur, under Fair Value Adjustments. 

During the nine months ended on 30 September 2015, no situation occurred where the above mentioned 
policy should apply. 

d) Financial Assets Available for Sale 
Financial Assets Available for Sale are Non-Derivative Financial Assets that: 

• SAG Gest intends to keep for undetermined period of time, or  

• Are designated as such upon acquisition, or  

• Do not fit any of the remaining categories of Financial Assets.  

These Assets are recognized as Non-Current Assets, unless there is an intention to sell them within 12 
months from reporting date. 

Following initial recognition, Financial Assets Available for Sale are measured at their fair value, by 
reference to the relevant market value on reporting date, with no deduction of transaction costs which may 
occur until their sale. 

Investments that are not listed and whose fair value is impossible to determine are recognized at cost, less 
impairment losses, if any. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of a Financial Asset Available for Sale must be 
recognized under Other Comprehensive Income, except in the case of impairment losses and of gains or 
of exchange rate gains or losses, until the Financial Asset is derecognized. At that moment, the accrued 
gain or loss previously recognized under Other Comprehensive Income shall be reclassified from Equity 
into profit or loss, as a reclassification adjustment. When any of these situations occurs, accrued gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, 
as Financial Income and Expenses. 

During the nine months ended on 30 September 2015, no situation occurred where the above mentioned 
policy should apply. 

2.5.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 30) 
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Cash and Banks balances (amounts with a 
maturity of three months or less) shown in the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position are  considered  
net of bank overdrafts, which are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position as “Current 
Liabilities”. 

2.5.12 Equity Instruments (Note 31) 
Equity Instruments are classified according to their contract terms, regardless of their legal form. Equity 
Instruments issued by Entities included in the consolidation are recognized at the amount received, net of the 
costs incurred with their issuing.  
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2.5.13 Financial Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities are classified according to their contract terms, regardless of their legal form, and are 
classified as follows: 

a) Financial Liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss 

b) Bank Loans 

c) Accounts Payable 

Policies and procedures for each category are as follows: 

a) Financial Liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss 
This category includes Financial Liabilities held for trading, and derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting purposes and that are recognized in this manner on initial recognition. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of Financial Liabilities measured at fair value through 
the profit and loss are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other Comprehensive 
Income for the period as “Changes in Fair Value”. 

During the nine months ended on 30 September 2015, no situation occurred where the above mentioned 
policy should apply. 

b) Bank Loans (Note 33) 
Loans are measured at their amortized cost, and the amount received is net of charges incurred with issuing 
such Loans. Financial Expenses are calculated using the effective interest rate method and recognized in 
the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other Comprehensive Income, as “Financial Expenses”, on an 
accrual basis. 

c) Accounts Payable  
Outstanding balances due to Suppliers and Other Creditors are initially recognized at their nominal value, 
which is deemed to represent their fair value, and are subsequently recognized, where applicable, at their 
amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.  

2.5.14 Provisions (Note 34) 
Provisions are recognized where the Entity has a legal or constructive obligation deriving from past 
circumstances, implying a probable outflow of economic resources that may be required to settle such obligation, 
and that such outflow can be measured reliably. 

2.5.15 Contingent Assets and Liabilities (Note 41) 
Contingent Assets are not recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements, and are only disclosed when 
there is likelihood of a future economic benefit. 

Contingent Liabilities are not recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements and are disclosed in the 
Notes, unless the likelihood of an outflow of funds is remote, in which case they are not disclosed. 

2.5.16 Subsequent Events (Note 42) 
Events taking place after reporting date that provide additional information on the conditions existing on reporting 
date are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Events taking place after the reporting date that provide additional information on the conditions existing after 
the reporting date are disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, if material. 
2.5.17 Impairment of Assets 
On each reporting date, SAG Gest evaluates any signs of impairment which may affect the value of its Assets. 
Whenever these occur, or whenever IFRS require the performance of impairment tests, SAG Gest estimates 
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the recoverable amount of the Asset, which corresponds to the Asset’s highest market value, less costs to sell, 
or the asset’s value in use. In the event of an impairment situation, the value of the Asset is reduced in order to 
reflect its net realizable value. 

2.5.18 Leases 
Fixed Assets acquired under financial lease contracts, or other contractual instruments that, in substance, 
represent financial leases, are recognized as financial leases, in accordance with the provisions set forth in IAS 
17 – Leases. 

Accordingly, on the one hand, Tangible Assets are recognized after deduction of their respective cumulative 
depreciation and, on the other, Liabilities representing the outstanding principal lease payments are recognized 
at their amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method. Interest expenses included in contractual 
installments and depreciation are recognized as expenses in the relevant period. 

2.5.19 Foreign Currency Denominated Transactions 
a) Functional currency 

The functional currency used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements of SAG Gest and 
its Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Associates is the Euro, except for the Unidas S/A Affiliate whose functional 
currency is the Brazilian Real.  

b) Translation of Financial Statements of Subsidiaries using a functional currency other than the Euro 

The Financial Statements of the Unidas S/A Affiliate for the period ended 30 September 2015 were 
translated into Euros in accordance with the following procedures: 

• The Statement of the Financial Position was converted to Euros using the exchange rate prevailing at 
the close of business on reporting date; 

• The Income Statement expressed in Euros was the result of adding all monthly Income Statements 
after each one of them is converted into Euros using the exchange rate prevailing at the end of each 
month. 

c) Foreign currency denominated transactions    
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies (outside the Euro Zone) are converted into Euros using the 
exchange rate prevailing on transaction date. Foreign currency denominated accounts receivable and 
payable are converted into Euros using the exchange rate prevailing on reporting date. 

d) Non-monetary Assets and Liabilities denominated in foreign currency 

Foreign currency denominated non-monetary assets and liabilities recognized at fair value are converted 
into the functional currency of each Subsidiary or Affiliate, using the exchange rate prevailing on the date 
their fair value is determined. Subsequently, and on each reporting date, those amounts are reconverted to 
SAG Gest’s functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing on reporting date.  

e) Exchange rate differences 
All exchange rate differences determined following the application of these procedures are recognized as 
Income or Expense for the period, except for Cumulative Translation Adjustments resulting from the process 
of translating the Unidas S/A Affiliate’s Financial Statements, that are recognized against Consolidated 
Equity. 

Exchange differences arising from the conversion of balances between Group Companies are recognized 
as Income or Expenses of the period in the Consolidated Financial Statements, unless those balances are 
considered as part of the net investment in a foreign Subsidiary, in which case they are recognized in Equity. 
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2.6 Management Judgments 
In the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, the Board of Directors 
uses estimates and assumptions affecting the application of policies and the reported amounts. Estimates and 
judgments are continually evaluated and are based on the experience of past events and other factors, including 
expectations in respect of future events that are considered to be likely in view of the circumstances on which 
the estimates were based or are the result of an acquired information or experience. The most significant 
accounting estimates contained in the Consolidated Financial Statements are as follows: 

a) Analysis of Goodwill Impairment 
Goodwill is tested annually and whenever circumstances arise which may indicate that its book value could 
be in an impairment situation. The recoverable amounts of Cash-Generating Units have been determined 
based on value-in-use calculations. The use of this method requires the estimate of the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the continuing operation of the Cash-Generating Unit and the choice of a suitable 
discount rate. 

b) Valuation and Useful Life of Intangible Assets 
SAG Gest has used various assumptions in estimating future cash flows resulting from Intangible Assets 
acquired as part of processes of acquisition of Entities, which include an estimate of future revenues, 
discount rates and the useful life of said assets. 

c) Recognition of Provisions and Adjustments 
SAG Gest is currently party to various legal cases. Based on the opinion of its Legal Advisors, an 
assessment is made to determine whether a Provision should be recognized in respect of such 
contingencies. 

Adjustments for Accounts Receivable are essentially calculated based on the ageing of the open items 
composing the Accounts Receivable balances, the Clients’ risk profile and their financial condition. 
Estimates relating to the value of Adjustments for Accounts Receivable differ from business to business. 

Adjustments for Inventories are calculated on the basis of the expected sales price of goods in inventory. 

d) Assessment of the market value of Financial Instruments 
SAG Gest chooses the valuation method that it considers appropriate to determine the market value of 
Financial Instruments not listed in an active market, based upon its best knowledge of the market and the 
assets. In this process, the Group applies the valuation techniques commonly used by market practitioners, 
and uses assumptions based on market rates. 

e) Going Concern 
The activities of the operational units of the Entities included in the consolidation have been contributing 
positively and increasingly to the Consolidated Net Result. However, such contribution has not been 
sufficient to offset the financial expenses incurred, which are essentially related to investments performed 
by SAG Gest in the acquisition of its portfolio of businesses, particularly the investment performed in the 
acquisition of Unidas S/A Affiliate. The strategic plan defined in 2008 included the already concluded sale 
of several non-strategic assets, and aims to ensure SAG Gest’s profitability and sustainability. This plan 
included the adoption of measures designed to ensure optimization of the value of the investment in the 
Unidas S/A Affiliate, so that its sale will enable a reduction of consolidated debt and, consequently, together 
with recovery in the volumes of the Portuguese automotive market, the consistent and sustainable return of 
SAG Gest to its historical profitability levels. 

The materialization of the growth prospects for 2015 and 2016, and the successful implementation of the 
operations foreseen in understanding that was achieved in respect of the capitalization process mentioned 
below shall allow SAG Gest to again record positive results in the 2016 financial year.   

On 30 September 2015, SAG Gest’s Consolidated Net Equity is Eur 68,442.5 thousand negative. 
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The Annual Shareholders Meeting held on 29 May 2015 approved the contribution by the Principal S.A. 
Shareholder’s of additional Supplementary Capital Payments of Eur 35.0 million. The implementation of this 
resolution was contingent upon the satisfactory conclusion of the negotiations between the Principal S.A 
Shareholder and the Banks that are parties to the SAG Gest Framework Agreement. 

As agreed with said Banks, the above resolution was not implemented, given that such negotiations were 
extended to include a more comprehensive financial restructuring of SAG Gest. The objectives of such 
restructuring are the strengthening of SAG Gest’s Consolidated Equity, the reduction of its debt and the 
renegotiation of debt maturities, so as to allow SAG Gest’s income statement to remain sustainably profitable 
and the Entity’s Consolidated Equity to be balanced. 

This process included the appointment of two Banks to act as advisors to SAG Gest. Based upon a model 
developed by SAG Gest, the advisors designed a set of transactions which will ensure that the above 
objectives are met in respect of SAG Gest’s Consolidated Equity and its projected income statement.   

As at the date of publication of the information herein, an understanding had been reached with the Banks, 
subject to the completion of the several contractual instruments, expected to take place during the 4th 
Quarter 2015. 

The impacts of the adoption of the above transactions on SAG Gest’s Consolidated Statement of the 
Financial Position as at 30 September 2015, had they been implemented on such date, are disclosed in 
Note 42 – Subsequent Events. 

3. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 
3.1. Entities included in the Consolidation 
The Subsidiaries and Affiliates included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as well as their main financial 
indicators as at 30 September 2015 are as follows: 

(1) Entities included in consolidation using the Full Consolidation Method  
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(2) Entities included in consolidation using the Equity Method 

 
3.2. Main Changes in the Consolidation Perimeter 
During the 1st Quarter 2015 SAG Gest sold the minority interests held in the Manheim Portugal and Carbizz 
Affiliates, as disclosed in Note 22. 

The stake held by SAG Gest in the Unidas S/A Affiliate was accounted for in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as at 30 September 2015 using the Equity Method, in accordance with IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures since, 
until 30 June 2015, the sale of this investment did not occur. This stake had been recognized as a Non-Current 
Asset Held for Sale since 1 July 2013. 

4. REPORTING BY BUSINESS SEGMENT 
For management purposes, the Entities included in the consolidation are organized by business segments, as 
follows: 

• The Distribution segment which includes: 

i. the automotive distribution activities in Portugal in respect of the Volkswagen, Volkswagen – 
Commercial Vehicles, Škoda, Audi, Bentley and Lamborghini Brands 

ii. the spare parts and accessories sales activity 

iii. the new vehicle preparation activity 

iv. the training and technical consultancy activities 

• The Retail segment includes the activities involving the retail sale of new and semi-new vehicles of the 
Volkswagen, Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and Audi Brands, the sale of multi-brand used 
vehicles, the sale of parts and accessories, as well as repairs and maintenance services for Volkswagen, 
Volkswagen – Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and Audi vehicles. This segment also includes results from the 
Autolombos Affiliate, which is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements using the Equity Method. 

• Other Operations include  

i. the activities of the Group’s Parent company 

ii. the activities of the Group’s shared services unit  

iii. the Rent-a-Car activities in Portugal 

iv. the appropriation by SAG Gest of its share in the Unidas S/A Affiliate’s net result, which is accounted 
for using the Equity Method. 

Operating results of the Cash-Generating Units are monitored separately with the objective of deciding in respect 
of the allocation of resources and monitoring performance. Performance of each segment is evaluated on the 
basis of net operating income and contribution to the net consolidated operating income.  

The Group’s financing and taxes are mostly managed at the Group level and are not allocated to operational 
segments. 

Transfer prices applied to transactions between segments are determined on an arm’s length basis, similar in 
all aspects to transactions conducted with unrelated bona fide third parties. 
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Business segments 
The tables below disclose the results, assets and liabilities as at 30 September 2015 and 30 September 2014 of the business segments where the Group 
develops its operations: 
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5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
Other Operating Income is as follows: 

 
6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
Other Operating Expenses are as follows: 

 
7. SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES – COMMERCIAL EXPENSES 
Third Party Supplies and Services – Commercial Expenses are as follows: 
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8. SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES – CAR EXPENSES 
Third Party Supplies and Services – Car Expenses are as follows: 

 
9. SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES – OVERHEADS 
Third Party Supplies and Services – Overheads are as follows: 
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10. PAYROLL EXPENSES 
Payroll Expenses are as follows: 

 
 

The number of Employees was as follows: 

 
11. GAINS AND LOSSES IN THE SALE OF FIXED ASSETS 
Gains and Losses in the Sale of Fixed Assets are as follows: 

 
The amount reported as (Losses) and Gains on the Sale of Fixed Assets represents the net 
amount of realized losses and gains in the sale of fixed assets. 

12. IMPAIRMENTS 
Impairments are as follows: 

 
In accordance with Urban Rental Regulations enforced in 2013, rental agreements in respect of 
buildings used in operational activities have a term of 5 years, after which the rental agreement 
may be cancelled.  

Therefore, from 2013 onwards, an annual impairment of 1/5 of the corresponding Store Key Money 
amounts is being recognized, so that the same is zero at the end of this 5 year term. 

Store Key Money relates to the buildings disclosed in the following table. 
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13. FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
Financial Expenses are as follows: 

 
As reported in Note 41, certain Entities included in consolidation have requested that several 
Financial Institutions issue Bank Guarantees for the benefit of third parties (including Group 
Suppliers). On 30 September 2015 the total amount of such guarantees is Eur 175,647.9 thousand 
(Eur 150,148.5 thousand, on 31 December 2014). 

14.  FINANCIAL INCOME 
Financial Income is as follows: 

 
15. GAINS AND LOSSES IN GROUP COMPANIES 
Gains and Losses in Group Companies represent the appropriation, by SAG Gest, of the net 
results reported during the period by Affiliates consolidated using the Equity Method. In these 
Affiliates, SAG Gest does not hold a majority stake but has significant management influence. 

These amounts are detailed in the following table. 
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Adoption of the Equity Method in respect the Unidas S/A Affiliate was performed retrospectively 
from 1 July 2013. As a result, the appropriation by SAG Gest of its share in the said Affiliate's net 
results was also recognized in prior periods, since 1 July 2013. 

During the 1st Quarter 2015, the SAG Gest’s stake in the Manheim Affiliate was sold for the 
symbolic amount of 1 Euro, as disclosed in Note 22, with no impact on the consolidated results for 
the nine months ended on 30 September 2015. 

16. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
SAG Gest owns a direct and indirect stake representing 34.75% of the Unidas S/A Affiliate’s share 
capital and voting rights, represented by 18,791,552 shares, and is this Affiliate’s largest single 
shareholder. SAG Gest and three Brazilian Funds holding the remaining of the share capital of the 
Unidas S/A Affiliate, control amongst themselves the management and operations of said Affiliate, 
as set forth in the Investment Agreement dated 2011, defining the terms and conditions of the 
Affiliate’s share capital increase that was entirely subscribed by said Investment Funds. The 
Investment Agreement sets forth SAG Gest’s and the Investment Funds rights and obligations in 
respect of the management of the Unidas S/A Affiliate. 

Effective 1 July 2013, SAG Gest’s stake in the Unidas S/A Affiliate was recognized as Non-Current 
Assets Held for Sale. Consequently, after this date, SAG Gest no longer recognized in its 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Consolidated Comprehensive Income the 
share of the Affiliate’s Net Result corresponding to its holding. 
The strategic plan that is being implemented since 2008 with the objective of ensuring SAG Gest’s 
sustainability includes the sale of SAG Gest’s share in the Unidas S/A Affiliate. In accordance with 
this plan, the Board of Directors formalized on 26 September 2013 its decision to sell this stake, 
which was presented as a Non-Current Asset Held for Sale from 1 July 2013, as it was considered 
that the conditions set forth in IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations were fulfilled, and that this asset was no longer considered strategic for SAG Gest. 
The Board continues to expect that the carrying amount of the investment in the Unidas S/A 
Affiliate will be essentially recovered through its sale rather than through its continuing use. 

However, and in spite of the unfavorable trend of the overall economic environment in Brazil, the 
steps deemed as required to complete a sale transaction of SAG Gest’s investment in the Unidas 
S/A Affiliate continued to be implemented, in accordance with the approved sale plan. In this 
context, negotiations have been maintained with Entities showing interest in acquiring the Unidas 
S/A Affiliate. 
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Management considered that it has not been possible to conclude a sale transaction of this asset 
due to circumstances that were beyond its control. However, SAG Gest still intended to sell this 
investment. Therefore, the extension of the original one year period, which ended on 1 July 2014, 
was justified, as set forth for in IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale. 

Since until 30 June 2015 there was no sale transaction performed in respect of this investment 
and although SAG Gest’s remains committed to sell its investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, this 
Affiliate was again included in SAG Gest’s Consolidated Financial Statements through the Equity 
Method, in accordance with IFRS 5 and IAS 28. 

Consequently, SAG Gest’s stake in the Unidas S/A Affiliate was included in SAG Gest’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements through the Equity Method retrospectively from 1 July 2013, 
and the adjustments affecting the Consolidated Financial Statements reported from that date 
onwards are disclosed below. 

 
The Eur 53,827.3 thousand adjustment in the Total Assets amount reported on 31 December 2013 
results essentially from the recognition of the reduction (from 52.72% to 34.75%) of SAG Gest's 
stake in the share capital of the Unidas S/A Affiliate, which occurred during the 2nd Half 2013. In 
accordance with the Equity Method, this impact influenced the results for 2013, as described in 
Note 22. 

On the other hand, the 2014 Consolidated Results were positively adjusted for Eur 48,716.5 
thousand due, on the one hand, to appropriation by SAG Gest of its stake in the results of Unidas 
S/A Affiliate and, on the other, to the adjustment resulting from the cancellation of the impairment 
loss reported in such period. 
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17. INCOME TAX 
a) Reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate 
The Income Tax amount recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Results and Other 
Comprehensive Income for the nine months ended 30 September 2015 and 30 September 2014, 
as well as the reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax 
rate are as follows:   

 
Note 1: The Local Surtax is calculated as disclosed in Note 2.5.3 c). In the nine months ended 30 September 2015, SIVA, 

Rolvia, Soauto Comércio, AA00, Rolporto, Frotarent, Globalrent, LGA, Loures Automóveis and the Imocar Real 
Estate Investment Fund recorded positive taxable income. 

Note 2: The State Tax is calculated as reported in Note 2.5.3 c).  In the nine months ended 30 September 2015, the SIVA 
Subsidiary recorded positive taxable income in excess of Eur 7,500.0 thousand 
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Income Tax was calculated using to tax rates enacted or substantially enacted on reporting date 
in each country where taxable income is generated, in accordance with the applicable tax 
regulations. 

b) Deferred Income Taxes  
Deferred Income Tax balances are as shown in the table below, which includes the differences 
between the tax and the reporting bases of the corresponding Assets and/or Liabilities: 

 
c) Deferred Tax Assets arising from tax losses carried forward 
Tax Losses Carried Forward available for use in the future, and the corresponding Deferred Tax 
Assets, by year of origin and expiry date, are detailed in the table below. Management expects 
that positive taxable income will be generated in the future allowing the use of the cumulative tax 
losses. 
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d) Current Income Tax Receivable 
The balance receivable in respect of Current Income Taxes is as follows:  

 
i. IRC – Disputed amounts 

The amount of Eur 3,973.8 thousand represents the payment of Corporate Income Tax in respect 
of several previous periods, resulting from additional tax assessments issued by the Portuguese 
Tax Authorities. Such additional tax assessments are being legally challenged, and are disclosed 
in Note 41 - Contingencies. This payment was performed in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set forth in Decree-Law 151-A/2013. This fact resulted in the cancellation of 
compensatory interest of Eur 508.5 thousand, of late payment interest of Eur 820.2 thousand, and 
legal charges of Eur 45.9 thousand (amounts which would represent an additional contingency 
had this payment not been made). Bank Guarantees provided under the legal proceedings, for a 
total amount of Eur 6,327.2 thousand, were also cancelled. 

ii. Income Tax Receivable (Corporate Income Tax, Special Advanced Payments, Income Tax 
Surtaxes) by financial year 

Details of IRC – Disputed Amounts, of Special Advanced Payments and of Income Tax Surtax are 
disclosed in the following table. 
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Reimbursement claims in respect of Special Advanced Payments paid in 2007, 2008 and 2009 
were filed with the Tax Authorities, due to the fact that taxable income for the years 2007 to 2014 
was insufficient to allow for the recovery of these amounts.  

Changes in Income Tax Receivable, are disclosed in g) below. 

e) Current Income Tax Payable 
The balance in respect of Current Income Tax Payable was as follows: 

 
Changes in Income Tax Payable, are disclosed in g) below. 

f) Taxes – Other Than Income Taxes 
The balance of Other Taxes Receivable is reported in the following table. 
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The balance of Other Taxes Payable is as follows: 

 
g)  Changes in Income Tax balances 
The table below discloses the entries recorded in the items of the Consolidated Statement of the 
Financial Position related to Income Taxes, during the nine months ended 30 September 2015: 

 

 
18. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
As at 30 September 2015, the Entities included in the consolidation jointly owned 16,771,015 
shares as treasury stock (shares representing SAG Gest’s registered capital). During the nine 
months ended 30 September 2015, no transactions (purchases or sales) were performed involving 
treasury stock, and for that reason the number of shares held as treasury stock on 31 December 
2014 remained unchanged. 

The nominal value of SAG Gest shares is Eur 1 each. 
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Changes in Tangible Fixed Assets during the nine months ended 30 September 2015 were as follows: 
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Changes in Tangible Fixed Assets during the twelve months ended 31 December 2014 were as follows: 
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It is considered that, as at 30 September 2015, no impairment signs exist in respect of Tangible Fixed 
Assets. 

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – GOODWILL 
In December 2014, SAG Gest performed valuations using the Discounted Cash Flows (DCF) method, 
supporting the recoverability of the Goodwill amount recognized in the Consolidated Statement of the 
Financial Position. Management believes that the assumptions used in these assessments remain valid 
as at 30 September 2015. 

1. The amount of Goodwill as at 30 September 2015, which remained unchanged when compared to 
31 December 2014, determined in accordance with the disclosed procedure is as follows: 

 
2. The above Goodwill amounts were allocated to the Cash Generating Units for the purposes of 

determining the existence of impairment signs. 

The Discounted Cash Flows (DCF) method was used to establish the Enterprise Value and Equity 
Value of each of the Entities under review. 

Future Cash Flows were discounted using the WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital), 
calculated using the parameters listed in the following table. 
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To determine future cash flows to be discounted, several assumptions were used in respect of the 
development of the markets where each Entity operates, and assumptions were derived in relation 
to the development of the assets being evaluated, namely in what relates to production and 
profitability indicators. 

The assumptions that were used are considered in the context of Portugal’s macroeconomic 
framework, and of impacts that have been observed in the domestic automotive market. 

Therefore, the trends of the Portuguese Automotive Market, both in respect of the passenger car 
(PC) and the light commercial vehicle (LCV) markets, assumes a slight recovery in the coming years, 
similar to 2013 and 2014, stabilizing from 2016 onwards at 170 thousand units (PC) and 30 thousand 
units (LCV), respectively. For both markets, stabilization is expected at figures significantly below 
the historical average, as shown in the following charts. 

  

Cost of Debt (after Tax)

Input Data
Long Term Interest Rate 1.11%
Credit Spread 3.89%
Tax Rate 22.50%
Cost of Debt 3.88%

Cost of Equity

Input Data
Risk Free Rate 0.82%
Beta Sector (unlevered) 0.70
Beta Empresa (levered) 1.52
Risk Premium 5.50%
Country Risk Premium (Portugal) 2.53%
Cost of Equity 11.70%

WACC

Definition  (Cost of Equity * (E/(D+E)) + Cost of Debt * (D/(D+E)))

% Debt 60%
% Equity 40%
Cost of Debt 3.88%
Cost of Equity 11.70%
WACC 7.00%

Definition  (Risk Free Rate + Beta ( Risk Premium) + Country Risk Premium (Portugal))

Definition ( Long Term Interest Rate + Spread) * ( 1- Tax Rate)
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Passenger cars: 

 
 

Light commercial vehicles: 

 
Market shares used for projection purposes in the explicit period were as follows: 

 
Conservative assumptions were made in respect of each Entity both in terms of the sales volumes 
and of the margins trends, as follows: 

• sale of vehicles: maintenance of the market share observed in the recent period starting in 2011 
in all Brands, with margins remaining within the levels recorded since 2011 

Market Share 2011 2012 2013 2014.P 2015.P 2016.P 2017.P 2018.P 2019.P 2020.P

Volkswagen VP 9.7% 10.3% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6%
Volkswagen VCL 6.6% 10.3% 9.9% 8.7% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6%
Audi 4.3% 6.2% 5.6% 5.7% 5.7% 5.7% 5.7% 5.7% 5.7% 5.7%
Skoda 1.8% 2.0% 1.7% 1.7% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
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• services and sale of parts: maintenance of the 2014 margins during the entire projection period 

• cost structure: progression in line with revenue trend 

• payroll expenses: the employee structure existing at the end of 2014 was considered, evolving 
according to the planned level of activity 

The assumptions that have a stronger impact on the valuation results are as follows:  

• automotive market volume trend (MTM PC) 

• market shares trends of the more representative Brands (Audi and Volkswagen PC) 

• increase of free cash flow in perpetuity 

• discount rate (“WACC”) 

Analysis of the Enterprise Value resulting from the valuations of the most relevant Subsidiaries and 
Affiliates leads to the conclusion that there are no signs of impairment affecting the amounts of 
Goodwill recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The results (Equity Value) of these 
valuations and the main assumptions that were considered, as well as the sensitivity of the values 
to discount rate changes (“WACC”) and growth rates in perpetuity (g) are indicated in the tables 
below (amounts in Eur thousand).  

Soauto Comércio de Automóveis 

 

 
 

Loures Automóveis 

     

 

 
28,148 165,000 170,000 175,000

6.0% 30,326 34,878 39,431
6.5% 27,139 31,175 35,212

7.0% 24,533 28,148 31,763

7.5% 22,364 25,628 28,892
8.0% 20,529 23,497 26,466

MTM VP (2016-2022)

WACC

28,148 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
6.0% 33,685 34,878 36,882
6.5% 30,233 31,175 32,738

7.0% 27,390 28,148 29,394

7.5% 25,008 25,628 26,639
8.0% 22,984 23,497 24,330

WACC

G

0 165,000 170,000 175,000
9.0% 21,180 24,693 28,206
9.3% 22,857 26,421 29,984

9.6% 24,533 28,148 31,763

9.9% 26,210 29,876 33,541
10.2% 27,887 31,603 35,319

MTM VP (2016-2022)

VW VP 
Market 

Share (2016-
2022)

0 165,000 170,000 175,000
5.1% 19,267 22,722 26,177
5.4% 21,900 25,435 28,970

5.7% 24,533 28,148 31,763

6.0% 27,167 30,861 34,556
6.3% 29,800 33,574 37,349

MTM VP (2016-2022)

Audi 
Market 

Share (2016-
2022)

12,823 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
6.0% 15,287 15,817 16,706
6.5% 13,751 14,170 14,863

7.0% 12,486 12,823 13,376

7.5% 11,426 11,701 12,149
8.0% 10,524 10,752 11,121

WACC

G
12,823 165,000 170,000 175,000

6.0% 14,613 15,817 17,020
6.5% 13,105 14,170 15,234

7.0% 11,872 12,823 13,773

7.5% 10,844 11,701 12,557
8.0% 9,975 10,752 11,529

WACC

MTM VP (2016-2022)

-69 165,000 170,000 175,000
5.1% 10,745 11,662 12,578
5.4% 11,308 12,242 13,176

5.7% 11,872 12,823 13,773

6.0% 12,435 13,403 14,371
6.3% 12,999 13,984 14,969

MTM VP (2016-2022)

Audi Market 
Share (2016-

2022)

-69 165,000 170,000 175,000
9.0% 10,929 11,852 12,774
9.3% 11,401 12,337 13,274

9.6% 11,872 12,823 13,773

9.9% 12,343 13,308 14,273
10.2% 12,814 13,794 14,773

MTM VP (2016-2022)

VW VP 
Market 

Share (2016-
2022)
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Rolporto 

    

 
 

Rolvia 

 

 
Globalrent 
Globalrent concentrates the following two activities: the management of Group’s internal fleet and 
the sale of VW Group Brands in non-traditional channels, including the sale of vehicles (usually 
semi-new cars) in external markets.  

The following tables show the sensitivity analysis to the WACC and growth trend in the volume of 
vehicles sold in non-traditional markets. 

 
Considering the Enterprise Values resulting from the valuations, SAG Gest considers that there are no 
impairment signs affecting the Goodwill carrying amount. 

 

 

 

14,216 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
6.0% 16,889 17,463 18,426
6.5% 15,224 15,677 16,428

7.0% 13,851 14,216 14,815

7.5% 12,701 12,999 13,485
8.0% 11,722 11,969 12,370

WACC

G
14,216 165,000 170,000 175,000

6.0% 16,481 17,463 18,444
6.5% 14,805 15,677 16,548

7.0% 13,434 14,216 14,998

7.5% 12,291 12,999 13,706
8.0% 11,325 11,969 12,614

MTM VP (2016-2022)

WACC

55 165,000 170,000 175,000
9.0% 11,816 12,549 13,282
9.3% 12,625 13,382 14,140

9.6% 13,434 14,216 14,998

9.9% 14,242 15,049 15,856
10.2% 15,051 15,882 16,714

MTM VP (2016-2022)

VW VP 
Market 

Share (2016-
2022)

7.096 1,3% 1,5% 1,8%
6,0% 8.394 8.673 9.140
6,5% 7.586 7.806 8.170

7,0% 6.919 7.096 7.387

7,5% 6.360 6.505 6.740
8,0% 5.885 6.004 6.199

WACC

G  
7.096 165.000 170.000 175.000

6,0% 8.652 8.673 8.694
6,5% 7.785 7.806 7.826

7,0% 7.076 7.096 7.116

7,5% 6.485 6.505 6.524
8,0% 5.986 6.004 6.023

MTM VP (2016-2022)

WACC

7.096 165.000 170.000 175.000
5,1% 7.006 7.025 7.045
5,4% 7.041 7.061 7.081

5,7% 7.076 7.096 7.116

6,0% 7.111 7.131 7.151
6,3% 7.147 7.166 7.186

MTM VP (2016-2022)

Quota Audi 
(2016-2022)

7,622 1.3% 1.5% 1.8%
6.5% 8,120 8,376 8,802
6.8% 7,750 7,981 8,362

7.0% 7,413 7,622 7,964

7.3% 7,105 7,293 7,603
7.5% 6,821 6,993 7,273

WACC

G
0 2.5% 5.0% 7.5%

6.5% 8,038 8,376 8,714
6.8% 7,656 7,981 8,306

7.0% 7,309 7,622 7,935

7.3% 6,991 7,293 7,596
7.5% 6,700 6,993 7,285

Non Traditional Markets Growth

WACC
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Changes in Intangible Assets during the nine months ended 30 September 2015 and the twelve months ended 31 December 2014 were as follows: 
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22. INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES 
Investments in Affiliates are as follows: 

 
Changes during the nine months ended 30 September 2015 were as follows: 

 
Changes in Investments in Associates represent the appropriation by SAG Gest of its share in 
the changes recorded in the Equity of the Unidas S/A and Autolombos Affiliates (Note 15), as well 
as currency fluctuations that affected the value of the investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, which 
is denominated in Brazilian Reals. 

The Manheim Portugal and Carbizz Affiliates were sold for the symbolic amount of 1 Euro each, 
during the 1st Quarter of 2015. These transactions had no impact in the results for the period 
since impairment losses representing to the total amount of these investments had been 
recognized in previous years, as reported in the following table. 
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To determine that there were no impairment signs in respect of the carrying amount of the stake 
held by SAG Gest in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, it was considered that the independent evaluation 
of the Unidas S/A Affiliate performed during the 2nd Half 2014, as reported in SAG Gest’s 
Management Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the 2014 financial year, 
remained valid.  

The evaluation showed that the value of the Affiliate’s entire capital was between R$ 1,153 million 
and R$ 1,371 million, with a central scenario of R$ 1,254 million. At the exchange rate on 30 
September 2015 (Eur 1 = R$ 4.431907), those limits corresponded to Eur 260 million 
(conservative scenario) and Eur 309 million (optimistic scenario), with the central value of Eur 283 
million, therefore the value of SAG Gest’s stake is between Eur 90 million and Eur 107 million, 
respectively, with a central scenario of Eur 98 million. In view of these amounts, no impairment 
signs affect the book value of SAG Gest’s investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate (Eur 81.6 million 
on 30 September 2015). 

The tables below show sensitivity analyses of the amount of the entire capital of the Unidas S/A 
Affiliate to changes in the major business parameters and to changes in the exchange rate 
between the Euro and the Brazilian Real. 

a) Sensitivity analysis to changes in the main business parameters (R$ million) 
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b) Sensitivity analysis to changes in the exchange rates 
The sensitivity of 100% Equity Value of the Unidas S/A Affiliate to exchange rate fluctuation of 
the Brazilian Real against the Euro is as follows: 

 

 
 

23. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
Investment Properties are as follows: 

 
The amount recognized as Investment Properties relates to four buildings owned by the Imocar 
Real Estate Investment Fund that are not currently being used by the Group within the regular 
course of its operations. Those properties are recognized at their fair value, and were evaluated 
using the Income method, considering current rents for the rented Properties (Porto Building, 
Pedro Álvares Cabral Building and Amadora Building), and the market rents for the Conde de 
Almoster Building, which was vacant on date of the last valuation. In this case, it was assumed 
that the building would be rented within six months. In both cases, a 5 year period was considered, 
after which the sale of the Properties was considered, bearing in mind their characteristics, the 
current market situation and their location. The valuations recognized in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements were based on Level 3 inputs, as set forth in IFRS 13, in view of the fact 
that they result from un-observable inputs that said prices are not prices prevailing in active or 
inactive markets.  

It is SAG Gest's policy to only perform valuations of its property in alternate years, since the value 
of properties recognized as Investment Properties is not considered material. In 2013, the 
buildings mentioned above as Investment Properties were evaluated by independent experts and, 
following said evaluation, a reduction of its fair value of Eur 225.0 thousand was then recognized. 

Income generated by rented buildings during the nine months ended 30 September 2015 was 
Eur 48.7 thousand, recognized as “Other Operating Income”, and expenses recognized as “Other 
Operating Expenses” were Eur 2.3 thousand. 

The table below includes data on future rental income, based on the amounts agreed in the rental 
contracts that were in force on 30 September 2015. 

Worst Case 
Cenario

Main 
Cenario

Best Case 
Cenario

3.9319 261 319 382
4.1819 246 300 359
4.4319 232 283 339
4.6819 219 268 321
4.9319 208 254 305

Equity Value (EUR Millions)

BRL/EUR
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The terms of the existing rental agreements are between 6 and 46 months. 

 
24. INVENTORIES 
Inventories are as follows: 

 
The table above discloses several natures of Inventories, as follows: 

• New Vehicles: vehicles acquired from the Manufacturer that have not yet been billed to 
Customers; 

• Used Vehicles: used vehicles owned by the Entity that are immediately available for sale; 

• Rent-a-Car Buy Back Vehicles: vehicles that have already been invoiced to Customers 
(usually Rent-a-Car operators) that are in the possession of such Customers, but where 
the Entity has a re-purchase commitment for a future date. These vehicles will only 
become available for sale after an agreed holding period, as defined in the applicable 
Agreements. 

a) Inventories relating to Rent-a-Car Buy Back vehicles represent the vehicles billed to Clients 
(usually Rent-a-Car companies) under Agreements including clauses establishing that the 
Group is responsible for repurchasing such vehicles at the end of their agreed holding period. 
In accordance with IAS 18 – Revenue, such sales invoices were not recognized as income 
at the time they are issued, and such vehicles’ cost of sales is not recognized. Therefore, said 
vehicles remain recognized in Inventories. 

b) The amount of Adjustments for Inventories for Used Vehicles represents the difference 
between the vehicle purchase price and their respective market value, on reporting date.  

c) The amount of Adjustments for Inventories of Buy-Back Vehicles represents the difference 
between the vehicles’ purchase price and their estimated market value, on the date that such 
vehicles become available for sale. This amount is recognized throughout the holding period 
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so that, on the date of repurchase, the book value of each vehicle represents its market value 
on that date.  

d) The amount of Adjustments for Spare Parts Inventories is determined in accordance with the 
policy disclosed in Note 2.5 – Summary of Main Accounting Policies (Inventories), and 
represents the purchase price of obsolete and slow moving Parts and Accessories (more than 
24 months). 

Changes recorded during the nine months ended 30 September 2015 and during the twelve 
months ended 31 December 2014 in “Adjustments for Inventories” were as follows: 

 
25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – TRADE CUSTOMERS 
Trade Customers Accounts Receivable are as follows: 

 
Customers of the SIVA Subsidiary’s Dealer Networks delivered to it, in accordance with the 
relevant Dealership or Authorized Workshop Agreements, Bank Guarantees issued for the benefit 
of said Subsidiary for the total amount of Eur 36,324.9 thousand. Under the agreements between 
the SIVA Subsidiary and Volkswagen Bank AG’s branch in Portugal, said bank guarantees are 
subrogated to this Financial Institution. 

The detailed ageing of Trade Customer Accounts Receivable by maturity as at 30 September 
2015 and 31 December 2014 is as disclosed in the following table. 
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Adjustments for Trade Accounts Receivable recorded the following changes during the nine 
months ended 30 September 2015 and the twelve months ended 31 December 2014, 
respectively: 

 

(1) Transfers are performed between the various Adjustments accounts and therefore the amount reported shall be 
analyzed together with the details for Adjustments to Other Debtors disclosed in Note 27. 
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26. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – RELATED PARTIES 
Balances with Related Entities are as follows: 

 
The nature of the balances with other Group Companies (Shareholders, Related Companies, 
Affiliates and Associates) is disclosed in Note 37. 

27. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE – OTHER DEBTORS 
The balance with Other Debtors is as follows: 

 
Changes to Adjustments for Trade Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors recorded during the 
nine months ended 30 September 2015 and the twelve months ended 31 December 2014 are 
disclosed in the following table. 
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(1) Transfers recognized in 2014 were performed between the various Adjustments accounts and therefore the amount 

reported for December 2 014 shall be analyzed together with the details for Adjustments to Customers disclosed in 
Note 25. 

28. DEFERRED EXPENSES 
Deferred Expenses are as follows: 
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29. ACCRUED INCOME 
Accrued Income is as follows: 

 
30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
Cash and Cash Equivalents are as follows: 

 
The amounts reported as Cash and Cash Equivalents only include amounts that may be realized 
no later than three months from reporting date, net of creditor bank accounts balances on the 
same date, where applicable. 

31. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
As at 30 September 2015, Registered Share Capital was represented by 169,764,398 ordinary 
shares with a nominal value of Eur 1 each, and was fully paid up. 

SAG Gest’s controlling Shareholder is SGC – SGPS, the Group’s Parent Company and a holding 
Company with headquarters in Estrada de Alfragide, 67 – Alfragide, Amadora. SGC – SGPS 
holds a direct stake in SAG Gest capital of 69.13%, and an indirect stake of 10.24% representing, 
respectively, to 76.71% and 11.37% of the voting rights. 

Treasury stock is owned by the Group’s Parent Company (SAG Gest SA) which, as at 30 
September 2015, held 16,760,815 shares, and by the Rolporto and Loures Automóveis 
Subsidiaries who, on same date, held 5,100 shares of SAG Gest each. The Company meets the 
criteria for the purchase of treasury stock, as provided in Article 317 in the Company’s Act. 
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a) Cumulative Translation Adjustments 
Cumulative Translation Adjustments are originated in the translation of the Financial Statements 
of Subsidiaries and Affiliates whose functional currency is not the Euro, as disclosed in Note 2.5. 
– Main Accounting Policies (Transactions in Foreign Currency). 

b) Supplementary Capital Payments 
On 12 August 2013, SAG Gest’s equity was increased in the amount of Eur 55,000 thousand by 
means of Supplementary Capital Payments performed in cash by the Principal SA Shareholder, 
a company wholly owned by SAG Gest’s ultimate beneficial Shareholder.  

Funds for this operation were borrowed by the Principal SA Shareholder from major Portuguese 
Financial Institutions. SAG Gest guaranteed the amount of such loans by providing as collateral 
a second pledge on all shares it owns in the Unidas S/A Affiliate. 

Said amount was used by SAG Gest to partially reimburse loans granted by the same Financial 
Institutions, which were renegotiated in December 2010 in accordance with the Framework 
Agreement. Under this Agreement which is described in greater detail in Note 33, SAG Gest’s 
obligations are guaranteed through the pledging as collateral of the entire Unidas S/A Affiliate’s 
stock held by SAG Gest. 

On 14 January 2014, SAG Gest partially reimbursed such Supplementary Capital Payments for 
Eur 1,072.1 thousand. 

On 15 January 2015 SAG Gest performed a partial reimbursement of such Supplementary Capital 
Payments for the amount of Eur 156.0 thousand. 

32. STOCK OPTION PLAN – UNIDAS S/A AFFILIATE 
Unidas S/A Affiliate Stock Option Plan 

The Unidas S/A Affiliate’s Shareholders Meeting held on 15 June 2012 approved the 
implementation of the Stock Option Plan (the Plan) for Unidas S/A. 

The Plan establishes the general conditions and terms under which the Unidas S/A Affiliate 
acquires and awards stock options in respect of shares issued by Unidas S/A Affiliate to 
Employees, Professionals and Members of the Board of Unidas S/A Affiliate and its Subsidiaries 
(the “Participants”) who meet the eligibility criteria as defined in the Plan, in accordance with the 
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terms and conditions established in the Unidas S/A Affiliate’s By-laws and by its Board of 
Directors. 

The main features of the Plan are as follows: 

Vesting: In each twelve months period starting 13 July 2011, or from the date they joined Unidas 
S/A Affiliate as Employees (in the cases where they joined after 13 July 2011), Participants shall 
be entitled to exercise ¼ (one fourth) of the Options awarded to them as per the terms of the 
program or of the relevant employment contract. 

Stock Option Valuation: The fair value of the Options is estimated on the date they are awarded, 
based on the Black & Scholes option valuation model. 

Stock Option Exercise: The exercise of vested Stock Options shall take place (i) within 2 (two) 
years of the date of a Liquidity Event, or (ii) within 2 (two) years from the vesting date of all Options 
assigned to each Participant (the “Option Term”). However, the Plan Management Committee 
may, in respect of each Stock awarding program or contract, establish different vesting conditions 
or Option Terms, and may even extend the term for Stock Option Exercise and/or its scheduling. 

On 29 June 2012, the Plan Management Committee approved in its meeting the 1st Program of 
the Plan, through which Unidas S/A Affiliate awarded stock options to its beneficiaries. 

The Plan has a maximum of 2,253,176 of Options, which corresponds to a maximum stock dilution 
of 4% of the total of 56,329,399 Unidas S/A Affiliate shares issued (being 54,076,223 currently 
issued shares, plus 2,253,176 shares to be issued pursuant to the Plan). There are currently 
2,135,780 options issued in accordance with the 1st Program of the Plan.  

The amount of Eur 281.6 thousand recognized in the Consolidated Shareholders Equity under 
the Stock Option Plan – Unidas represents the share attributable to SAG Gest in said 1st Program 
of the Plan in the 6 months ended 30 June 2013, with the cost recognized in the 1st Half of the 
year 2013 in Current “Result of Non-Current Assets Held for Sale”. 

The options plan applies exclusively to the Unidas S/A Affiliate. 
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33. BANK DEBT  
On 30 September 2015 and on 31 December 2014, Bank Debt was as follows: 

  

 
The main features of the above loans are as follows: 

• SAG – Overdraft 1 

Loan under the form of a Pledged Current Account, borrowed by SAG Gest in 2007. The 
maximum amount of this loan, which is automatically renewed for six month periods, unless 
terminated by either party, is Eur 7,600.0 thousand. No collaterals were provided in respect 
of this loan.  

• SAG – Overdraft 2 

Loan under the form of a Pledged Current Account, borrowed by SAG Gest in 2008. This 
credit facility is automatically renewed for three month periods, unless terminated by either 
party, and has a maximum limit of Eur 15,250.00 thousand. No collaterals were provided in 
respect of this loan.  
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• SAG – Overdraft 3 

Loan under the form of a Pledged Current Account, borrowed by SAG Gest in 2009. This loan 
is automatically renewed for three month periods, and its maximum amount is Eur 675.0 
thousand. No collaterals were provided in respect of this loan.  

• SAG – Overdraft 4 

Loan under the form of a Pledged Current Account, borrowed by SAG Gest in 2009. This 
credit facility has a maximum amount of Eur 500.0 thousand, to be settled December 2015. 
This loan is guaranteed by the SGC – SGPS Shareholder.  

• SIVA – Overdraft 1 

Loan under the form of a Pledged Current Account borrowed by the SIVA Subsidiary in 2012 
with a syndicate of 4 Portuguese Credit Institutions. The maximum amount of this credit 
facility, whose maturity date is in December 2015, is Eur 38,200.00 thousand. This loan is 
guaranteed by SAG Gest and by the SGC – SGPS Shareholder. 

• SIVA – Overdraft 2 

Loan under the form of a Pledged Current Account, borrowed by the SIVA Subsidiary in 2014. 
The maximum amount of this credit facility, which is automatically renewed for six month 
periods unless terminated by either party, is Eur 500.0 thousand. No collaterals were provided 
in respect of this loan.  

• SAG – Bank Loan 1 

Loan borrowed by SAG Gest, in 2011, for acquisition of 10,299,470 Shares of the 
Participation in the Real Estate Development Fund Imocar. This loan is guaranteed through 
a pledge of all Shares issued by the said Fund. This operation has a December 2015 maturity. 

• SAG – Bank Loan 2 

Loan borrowed by SAG Gest in 2011. The outstanding principal on 30 September 2015 will 
be reimbursed in November 2015. No collaterals were provided in respect of this loan.  

• SAG – Bank Loan 3 

Loan borrowed by SAG Gest in 2014. This loan had a two year term, with monthly payments 
of Eur 40.2 thousand, with the last installment expected to occur in December 2015. No 
collateral was provided in respect of this loan.  

• SAG – Bank Loan 4 

Loan borrowed by SAG Gest in 2014. This loan had an initial three year term, with monthly 
payments of Eur 66.6 thousand, with the last installment expected to occur in January 2017. 
For this reason, on 30 September 2015, the 4 installments due after 30 September 2016 were 
recognized as Non-Current Bank Loans. No collaterals were provided in respect of this loan.  

• SIVA – Bank Loan 1 

Loan borrowed by the SIVA Subsidiary in 2014. This loan will be repaid in February 2016 in 
one single installment. No collaterals were provided in respect of this loan.  
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• SAG – Commercial Paper 1 

Commercial Paper Program, initially issued by SAG Gest in 2005. The placement of these 
debt instruments is performed by a Portuguese Financial Institution acting solely as 
Placement Entity and Agent. The Commercial Paper Program does not benefit from an 
underwriting guarantee and its issues are made in the market (over the counter), subject to 
existing demand for this type of product. On 30 September 2015, the total amount placed was 
Eur 750.0 thousand with maturity in October 2015. Placements are usually made for 1 month 
periods and the program is expected to be fully repaid by November 2015. No collaterals 
were provided in respect of this debt. 

• SAG – Commercial Paper 2 

Set of four Commercial Paper Programs negotiated with a syndicate of four Portuguese 
Financial Institutions in December 2010, for a nominal amount of Eur 206,000.0 thousand 
with maturity in December 2015. The four operations are governed by a Framework 
Agreement, which was renegotiated in August 2013, between SAG Gest and said Financial 
Institutions. These debt instruments are guaranteed by the SGC – SGPS Shareholder. 
Additionally, and as a guarantee for full reimbursement of all liabilities related to these issues, 
SAG Gest pledged all shares that it owns representing the registered share capital of the 
Unidas S/A Affiliate as collateral for the benefit of the Financial Institutions. 

The Framework Agreement sets forth the financial covenants that have to be met by SAG 
Gest. Such covenants are disclosed in Note 38. 

a) Bank Loans – Recognition and Measurement 
According to IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the amounts 
reported as Bank Debt are recognized at their Amortized Cost, and the related financial expenses 
are recognized in accordance with the effective interest rate method.  

Adoption of this method results in debt being recognized for amounts that may differ from its 
nominal value. 

The difference between the amounts for which current Bank Debt is recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position and its nominal value on 30 September 2015 
and 31 December 2014 is as follows: 
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b) Contractual Maturities 

The contractual maturities of Bank Debt as at 30 September 2015 are as follows:  

 
34. PROVISIONS 
Provisions refer to specific risks and are reassessed on an yearly basis. The table below shows 
changes during the nine months ended 30 September 2015 and during the twelve months ended 
31 December 2014, respectively. 

 
Contingencies associated with these Provisions refer mainly to operating risks related to the 
possibility of the Entities included in the consolidation incurring losses, namely as a result of: 

• Legal proceedings, including of a fiscal nature; 

• Misappropriation of assets; 

• Other contingencies. 
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35. ACCRUED EXPENSES 
Accrued Expenses are disclosed in the following table. 
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36. DEFERRED INCOME  
Deferred Income is as follows: 

 
37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
In addition to the balances between, and the transactions performed with Entities included in 
Consolidation, as mentioned in Note 3 herein, which were eliminated in the preparation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, other balances and transactions with Related Parties are 
disclosed in the next tables. 

 
Balances with the SGC – SGPS Shareholder are recognized since 31 December 2013 as Non-
Current Assets, as it is expected that they will only be reimbursed during an extend period of time, 
after implementation of the financial reorganization plan mentioned in the Management Report, 
and after the return to positive consolidated results, as a result of developments in the automotive 
market in Portugal. 

As disclosed in greater detail on Note 33, the SGC – SGPS Shareholder intervenes as guarantor 
in bank loans borrowed by SAG Gest or its Subsidiaries for a total of Eur 244,700.0 thousand. 

The balance with the Autolombos Affiliate relates to renewable, short-term treasury operations 
(with less than one-year maturity) performed by the Soauto Comércio de Automóveis Subsidiary. 
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The balance of treasury operations with Volpe Participações relates to short-term treasury 
operations performed by the SAG Overseas Subsidiary. 

No guarantees were provided in respect of the above balances. 

 
The transactions identified as Accrued Interest Income represent interest income accrued in 
respect of the financial operations indicated in the previous table. Accrued Interest Income is 
calculated using interest rates and other conditions that are in every way similar to prevailing 
market transactions between non-related bona fide third parties. 

38. FINANCIAL RISKS  
a) Exchange Rate Risk and Interest Rate Risk 
In the course of their regular activity the Companies of the SAG Group included in consolidation 
are exposed to interest and exchange rate fluctuations that are monitored dynamically in order to 
guarantee the fulfillment of policies defined to manage such financial risks.  

The ALCO (Assets and Liabilities Committee) has the responsibility for defining the SAG Gest 
financial risk management policies, and is also responsible for monitoring and assessing the 
implementation of recommended hedging strategies. 

To implement the risk coverage strategies, Derivative Financial Instruments are negotiated from 
time to time, if so resolved by the ALCO, in order to freeze interest or exchange rates or, 
alternatively, to limit the fluctuation range of such variables.  

SAG Gest documents its exposure to exchange or interest rate fluctuation risks in accordance 
with IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Valuation, namely:  

• the relation between the hedged item and the hedging instrument 

• the objectives to be achieved with the coverage 

• the method used to assess the efficiency of the hedge 

• the accounting procedures adopted in the recognition of the transaction 

SAG Gest currently has the following types of positions that generate exposure to interest and 
exchange rate fluctuations risks, for which policies have been defined. 
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1. Exchange Rate Risk – Investment denominated in Foreign Currency 
Exposure of SAG Gest and Entities included in consolidation to the exchange rate fluctuation risk 
originates in the financial investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, a Brazilian Entity whose functional 
currency is the Brazilian Real. 

This Investment is recognized in the Statement of the Financial Position for the amount of Eur 
81,639.1 thousand, as reported in Note 16. This amount corresponds to R$ 361,816.9 thousand, 
converted using the exchange rate of Eur$1 = R$ 4.431907, as at 30 September 2015. 

During each reporting period, the Financial Statements of the Unidas S/A Affiliate are translated 
using the exchange rate as at the date of the Financial Statements, as disclosed in Note 2.5 – 
Summary of Main Accounting Policies (Foreign Currency Denominated Transactions).  

Exchange rates between the Euro and the Brazilian Real in force at each reporting date and which 
were used according with the reported policy are as follows: 

31 December 2013: Eur 1 = R$ 3.25109034 

30 June 2014:  Eur 1 = R$ 3.00995004 

31 December 2014: Eur 1 = R$ 3.21578667 

30 September 2015: Eur 1 = R$ 4.43190700 

Exchange rate market fluctuations and the consequent use of different exchange rates in each 
reporting period generate exchange differences that are recognized under Consolidated Equity 
(Cumulative Translation Adjustments) 

Because there is no liquid market actively performing transactions between the Brazilian Real 
and the Euro, the exchange risk generated by this Investment is analyzed and managed in two 
different ways, considering that the total exchange rate exposure of investments denominated in 
foreign currency derives from two different, unrelated risks: 

• risk of fluctuation of the Brazilian Real against the US Dollar; and 

• risk of fluctuation of the US Dollar against the Euro.  

Therefore, decisions in respect of the coverage of both risks are independent and any risk 
coverages are implemented through the use of different Financial Instruments related to the risks 
inherent to each of these variables.  

Where applicable, results achieved with such coverages are recognized in Consolidated Equity.  

On the other hand, in accordance with the defined policies, the transaction costs and the potential 
effects on SAG Gest’s liquidity position associated with the use of Financial Instruments to cover 
such risks may imply that, at certain times, certain exposures may not be covered or are only 
partially covered. 

During the first nine months 2015, no exchange risk coverage was performed. There are no 
coverage instruments in force on 30 September 2015. 

Sensitivity Analysis: 

For the purpose of sensitivity analyses in respect of SAG Gest’s exposure to currency fluctuations 
resulting from the investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate, two alternatives (valuation and 
devaluation) scenarios were considered for each of the risks involved. Therefore, four alternative 
scenarios were considered for changes in the Brazilian Real’s exchange rate against the Euro. 
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 Changes against 30 September 
2015 

 Scenario 1 Scenario 2 
Change of the Brazilian Real against the US Dollar + 25% - 25% 
Change of the US Dollar against the Euro + 10% - 10% 

 

In performing these sensitivity tests, estimates were used to determine the impact of potential 
currency changes in the Asset’s value, evaluated in Euros, when compared with the asset’s 
carrying amount on 30 September 2015. The results (in Eur thousand) are summarized in the 
table below: 

 
2. Interest Rate Risk - Variable Interest Rate Liabilities 
Although all interest charges in respect of loans negotiated by SAG Gest in Portugal are indexed 
to the Euribor interest rate, with the addition of a risk spread, on 30 September 2015 no Financial 
Instruments to cover the interest rate changes risk were in force. The decision to obtain this type 
of coverage is made on a case-by-case basis and depends on the expected market trends of 
interest rates and on the liquidity risk associated to the coverage instruments, which justifies the 
fact that no coverage existed on this date. 

b) Credit Risk 
SAG Gest’s policy in respect of the definition of Customer credit limits is performed using 
Companies specializing in credit risk analysis. 

SAG Gest has access to major market databases which, together with its team of technical 
experts, enables it to assess and clearly minimize credit risk. 

The ageing of Accounts Receivable is disclosed in Note 25. 

c) Liquidity Risk 
This risk may arise when financing sources (cash available, cash generated by operations, 
proceeds from divestments, credit lines, additional shareholder contributions) do not meet the 
cash requirements necessary to fulfill obligations involving operational and financing activities, 
investments and debt repayment. 
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i. Credit facilities available 
On 30 September 2015, the amount of unused credit facilities was Eur 4.675 thousand.  

ii. Covenants 
The main contractual obligations of the Group relate to bank loans (Note 33) and the 
corresponding interest. 

Some of the loans disclosed in Note 33 are subject to the fulfillment of several covenants, which 
include: 

• Financial Covenants: 

Base upon the Consolidated Financial Statements, adjusted in contractual terms, to eliminate 
the impact of the stake held in the Unidas S/A Affiliate (on a half-yearly basis): 

Net Debt / EBITDA < 10.5 

Net Debt / Equity < 3.5 

• Ownership: 

Ownership by the SGC – SGPS Shareholder of, at least, 50.1% of the Registered Share 
Capital and voting rights of SAG Gest. 

Maintenance, by Dr. João Manuel de Quevedo Pereira Coutinho, of the 99.8% stake in the 
Share Capital and voting rights of SGC – SGPS Shareholder. 

• Other 

Maintenance of the Distribution Agreements for the Volkswagen, Audi and Škoda Brands by 
the SIVA Subsidiary. 

Negative Pledge – inability to sell or encumber assets without prior consent from creditor 
Financial Institutions 

Cross Default – any default situation by SAG Gest in any of its financing agreements triggers 
a default situation in all its remaining financing agreements 

Inability to Merge or Divide SAG Gest without prior consent from creditor Financial 
Institutions. 

39. RENTALS AND OPERATING LEASES 
Rentals and Leases as a Lessee 
In conducting its business activities, SAG Gest undertook certain responsibilities involving the 
rental of property and the operating leasing of vehicles. 

The table below includes data on future commitments related to rentals, using the amounts 
defined in the agreements in force on 30 September 2015. 

Property rental agreements provide for terms between 3 and 45 months, while the terms of vehicle 
operating leases agreements vary between 2 and 17 months. 
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
On 30 September 2015 and 31 December 2014, as defined by IAS 39, the carrying amount of 
each of the following categories of financial assets and liabilities was as follows: 

 
41. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
a) Guarantees 
i. As at 30 September 2015, unrelated third parties provided guarantees for the benefit of Group 

Companies of Eur 36,324.9 as shown in the following table. 

 
ii. As disclosed on Notes 33 and 37, the SGC – SGPS Shareholder intervenes as guarantor in 

bank loans borrowed by SAG Gest or its Subsidiaries for a total of Eur 244,700.0 thousand. 

iii. The liability of the Entities included in the consolidation in respect of bank guarantees issued, 
at their request, for the benefit of Third Parties was, on 30 September 2015, Eur 175,549.7 
thousand (Eur 150.148,5 thousand on 31 December 2014) and is detailed as follows: 
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iv. As disclosed in Note 33, to guarantee full payment of liabilities related to the Commercial 

Paper Programs negotiated on 28 December 2010 in the nominal amount of Eur 206,000.0 
thousand, SAG Gest pledged all the shares that it owns representing the registered share 
capital of the Unidas S/A Affiliate as collateral for the benefit of the Financial Institutions. 

Subsequently, on 12 August 2013, in the context of the Supplementary Capital Payments 
performed by the Principal SA Shareholder, as disclosed on Note 31, a financing operation 
was entered between the Principal SA Shareholder and the same Financial Institutions that 
are parties to the Framework Agreement. In this operation, SAG Gest intervened as 
guarantor, and provided a second pledge on all the shares it owns representing the registered 
share capital of Unidas S/A Affiliate. 

v. In accordance with the disclosure in Note 33, all Participation Units representing the Imocar 
Investment Fund (a closed real estate investment fund) were pledged as collateral for full 
payment of the responsibilities in respect of the Eur 34,169.7 thousand bank loan. 
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b) Contingencies 
i. The Portuguese Tax Authorities issued additional Income Tax assessment notes to SAG 

Gest and other Entities within the consolidation perimeter, in respect of Corporate Income 
Tax and Income Tax Surtax (“Derrama”) for the years 1999 to 2011, for a total of Eur 4,191.3 
thousand, as follows: 

   
Said Entities disagree with the basis for the issuance of such additional assessments and 
taxable income amendment reports and have initiated, within the applicable legal deadlines, 
legal proceedings in respect of each of the said assessments and reports. Therefore, these 
costs have not been recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 30 
September 2015.  

As disclosed in Note 17, and under the special debt settlement regime approved on 31 
October 2013, SAG Gest paid all amounts of tax due in respect of the ongoing legal 
proceedings, and released the Bank Guarantees of Eur 6,327.2 thousands provided in said 
injunction procedures. However, and because there was no change in the Entities’ positions 
in respect of the additional tax assessments, the legal proceedings are following their normal 
course. 

During the nine months ended on 30 September 2015, the amount for contingencies 
mentioned in the above table was decreased as a result of the receipt of Eur 643.2 thousand 
following two court decisions in favor of SAG Gest in cases involving Local Income Tax 
Surtax for the 2008 and 2011 financial years.  

Since the reasoning used by the Portuguese Tax Administration in issuing said additional 
Income Tax assessment notes for the tax years 1999-2007 is considerably and materially 
similar to the one used in a previous assessment note in respect of tax years 1997 and 1998, 
the Board’s opinion was further supported by the un-appealed decision issued on 10 March 
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2009 by the Central Administrative Court which was favorable to SAG Gest, in respect of the 
cancellation of the addition tax assessed for the tax years 1997 and 1998. 

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, based on opinions issued by its Legal Counsel, there 
is a good chance that such legal proceedings will be successful, and therefore no provision 
has been recognized in respect of this issue. 

ii. Following the agreements entered into upon the 13 July 2011 capital increase operation of 
the Unidas S/A Affiliate, which was fully subscribed by three Brazilian Investment Funds, 
SAG Gest is responsible in respect of certain contingencies existing on agreement date, 
which may include the following pending tax lawsuits at the Unidas S/A Affiliate: 

a. On 21 May 2009, the Brazilian Federal Income Office issued a claim to the Unidas S/A 
Affiliate in respect of the collection of Brazilian Corporate Income Taxes (“Imposto de 
Renda Sobre Pessoa Jurídica” and “Contribuição Social Sobre o Lucro Líquido”) mainly 
due to the deductibility of the goodwill amortization during the 2004 through 2007 tax 
years, for the total updated amount of $R 62,630 thousand as at 30 September 2014 
($R 62,010 thousand) as at 31 December 2014). 

b. On 11 December 2014, the Brazilian Federal Income Office issued claims to the Unidas 
S/A Affiliate in respect of the collection of Brazilian Corporate Income Taxes (“Imposto 
de Renda Sobre Pessoa Jurídica” and “Contribuição Social Sobre o Lucro Líquido”) 
regarding mainly the deductibility of the goodwill amortization and expenses incurred in 
swap transactions, in the 2009 tax year, for the updated amount of $R 25,301 thousand 
as at 30 September ($R 25,051 thousand as at 31 December 2014). 

The Affiliate disagrees with the basis for the issuance of such additional assessments and 
taxable income amendment reports and has initiated, within the applicable legal deadlines, 
legal proceedings in respect of each of the said assessments and reports. 

In the meantime, and according to the opinion of the Affiliate’s Board of Directors, based on 
opinions issued by its Legal Counsel, the risks of loss deriving from an unfavorable ruling by 
the highest possible chamber are only qualified as possible. For this reason, no provision 
was recognized during the years ended 31 December 2014 and during the nine months 
ended 30 September 2015. On date of the release of the Financial Statements of the Unidas 
Affiliate, and of the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements of SAG Gest, said 
legal proceeds were still pending. Said processes are being closely monitored by SAG Gest’s 
Board of Directors. 

42. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
SAG Gest and its majority Shareholder have reached an understanding with SAG Gest’s main 
creditor Banks in respect of several operations, still subject to the completion during the 4th 
Quarter of 2015 of the various contracts. The objective of such operations is to ensure the 
sustainability of SAG Gest’s core activities in the Automotive Retail area in Portugal, as well as 
the reconstruction of the Consolidated Net Equity. 

The main measures that will be implemented include the reduction, by approximately Eur 181 
million, of debt owed to the Banks that have signed the Framework Agreement (originally dated 
2010) following the application of the proceeds resulting from: 

i. A Eur 81.4 million increase of SAG Gest’s shareholders equity by means of the performance 
by the Principal SA Shareholder of additional Supplementary Capital. Said Shareholder will 
then hold Supplementary Capital Payments in SAG Gest for a total of Eur 135.2 million, and 
SAG Gest will again show a balance sheet structure adequate to support the development of 
its businesses. 
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ii. The sale to the Principal SA Shareholder, for the amount of Eur 100.0 million, of SAG Gest’s  
investment in the Unidas S/A Affiliate. The Audit Committee has already issued a favorable 
opinion in respect of this transaction, based upon an independent valuation of the Affiliate 
and additional information provided by the Board of Directors.  

After completion of the required contracts and the implementation of said transactions, SAG 
Gest’s Shareholders Equity and debt will therefore return to levels that is compatible with 
profitability of its activities. 

SAG Gest will today request the Shareholders Extraordinary Meeting to convene on 21 December 
2015, and the corresponding Notice and related documentation will be released at the Company’s 
website (www.sag.pt) and in the Information System of the Portuguese Securities and Exchange 
Commission (CMVM). 

The impact on SAG Gest’s Consolidated Statement of the Financial Position of the transactions 
foreseen in the above capitalization plan, should such transactions have been implemented on 
30 September 2015, would be as follows (unaudited amounts): 
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